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Highlights

in HKS million 1998 1997 Ch(ulge Ei) LIBWE Heat 5
Profit Attributable to Shareholders eyl
- regular 2,808 4,140 -32% -BE
- sale of Hongkong Telecom - 3,236 - HEHEEH
2,808 7,376
Shareholders’ Funds 41,899 40,225 49 BRESE
Net Debt 21,175 22,592 - 6% FRMHE
Per Share (HK cents) sk (BB
Earnings 27
- regular 132 194 -32% - HE
_ sale of Hongkong Telecom - 152 - HEBEEH
132 346
Dividend )
— regular 70 70 0% -BE
_ special - 30 - 5l
70 100

- Ligang Power Plant phase Il begins commercial operation * FIEEMEZIRABFREE

- Dah Chong Hong expands in Shanghai - REITELBREREES

- Discovery Bay phase 9 and 10 premium agreed - WREENIARE TS ER I E R
- Positive cashflow - IREWARE

- Debt reduced - BERY



Chairman’s Statement

The reliable long-term cash flow from CITIC Pacific’s infrastructure
business of power generation, roads, tunnels and bridges has served the
Company well. In 1998, infrastructure provided total cash flow of
HK$2.6 billion and contributed significantly to the financial stability of
the Company.

In 1998 CITIC Pacific achieved a profit of HK$2,808 million and
earnings per share of 132 cents. This was a reduction of 32% compared
with 1997’ results (excluding a non-recurring gain), but in a business
environment that was as difficult as any year in a generation, it shows
the underlying strength of our Company.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of 50 cents per share
making a total of 70 cents for the year — the same regular dividend as in
1997.

INFRASTRUCTURE

Power

In 1998 CITIC Pacific’s power plants continued to perform according to
plan. Phase 1l of the Ligang power plant (2 x 350MW) was completed
and both units were commissioned for commercial operations during the
year. Construction of a 400MW (2 x 200MW) power station in Huhhot,
Inner Mongolia will soon begin. Approval is being sought for phase 11 of
the Kaifeng power station (2 x 300MW) and phase Il of the Xinli power
station (2 X 300MW).

The Shanghai Pudong power plant has not been under CITIC Pacific’s
operational control, and in early 1999 this 25% investment was sold to
its major shareholder so CITIC Pacific could concentrate on its resources

on its self-managed power business.
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CLP Holdings reported a 41% profit increase in the year to
30 September 1998, 14% coming from its core business and the
balance from the sale of properties at Hok Un.

CITIC Pacific remains committed to the power business in China. The
growth in power consumption on the Mainland has slowed in 1998, but
the long run demand for power is assured as per capita consumption of
electricity is very low.

Civil Facilities
The three bridges and two tunnels in Shanghai and the Chang Jiang LJT
bridge in Chongqing all performed well, as planned.

In Hong Kong, the profits of the Eastern Harbour Tunnel have
increased following a toll increase implemented in January. The Western
Harbour Tunnel did not do as well and the level of traffic — now reached
40,000 vehicles a day — is still far below expectations due mainly to the
toll differential with Cross Harbour Tunnel (“CHT”) remaining
unchanged. In the newly released 1999 budget, the Government
proposed that upon the expiration of the CHT franchise in September
1999, toll increases for private vehicles and motorcycles would be
implemented. We believe that the proposed measure should have a
positive effect on the traffic flow for the Western Harbour Tunnel.

In early 1999 it was decided to sell to our partner the water plants in
Nanjing and Wuxi, and a toll road in Wuxi.

Aviation

Cathay Pacific reported a loss in 1998 as passenger loads and yields fell
due to the problems in the South East Asian economies. Although the load
factor at the end of 1998 had improved, passenger yields remained low.

Dragonair’s loads were declining as 1998 progressed. Despite problem of
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

the floods affecting many destinations, the airline remained profitable for
the year. The management of both airlines continued to focus on the
reduction of unit costs and the improvement of operating efficiency.

Hong Kong’s position as an international aviation hub was greatly
enhanced by the opening of the new airport at Chek Lap Kok. By
holding approximately a quarter of the two major Hong Kong-based
airlines, CITIC Pacific has a pivotal role in the aviation industry in
Hong Kong and we remain confident that, with a gradual recovery in the
Asian economies, the long term prospects for our highly efficient airlines
are bright.

TRADING AND DISTRIBUTION

Macro economic conditions deteriorated during 1998 and thus the
trading environment for Dah Chong Hong (*“DCH”) has been very
challenging. Although the situation stabilized towards the end of the
year, the market remains weak and competitive. DCH’s total turnover
fell 11% compared with 1997 which was mainly due to the significant
decrease in the motor trading and related business. However, while the
overall cars sold in Hong Kong fell significantly in 1993, DCH’s market
share in Hong Kong rose from 26% to 29%.

While the consumer market in Hong Kong was generally weak, DCH
obtained a 7% growth in general trading sales. DCH Foodmart
operations also had good results.

During 1998, DCH actively pursued business development
opportunities in Hong Kong. It established a repair and maintenance
service centre for ground support equipment at the new Hong Kong
International Airport and now provides a new limousine service linking

the airport with the urban areas.
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DCH’s future is surely in Mainland China and significant progress was
made in 1998. In Shanghai, joint venture companies were set up to
produce chickens and pigs primarily for the domestic market. The sales
and distribution of both imported and locally produced vehicles in China
has been expanding. The retail sales network for cosmetics was also
expanded in a new joint venture with Shiseido. “DCH Cooked Food”
chain stores have been opened in Shanghai as a part of a long-term
strategy to build up a nation-wide cooked food distribution network in
China.

In response to the difficult market conditions, DCH rationalized its
cost structure through headcount reductions and re-engineering to
improve efficiency. These efforts will be continued in the coming years.
PROPERTY
The Hong Kong property market was significantly affected by the
economic downturn, demand was weak and prices fell. However, our
joint venture project with the Cheung Kong Group - the “Tierra Verde”
development above the Tsing Yi MTR station — was a great success.

Active negotiation for a land premium of the residential developments
at Discovery Bay and Hung Shui Kiu is in progress. An agreement was
reached in early 1999 for Discovery Bay phase 9 and 10 land premium
at an attractive level. CITIC Pacific has a substantial landbank and
fortunately we have not agreed on a land premium. Therefore, we can
proceed with our projects at a land cost that will show a profit, even in
today’s depressed property market.

CITIC Tower is over 86% let; the DCH Commercial Centre was
completed during the year and 63% of the building has been let; Festival
Walk in Kowloon Tong was opened for the Christmas season and has

been a great success with over 90% of retail space occupied.

K EATAR AT A T BH 35 b K e
HZEBTES) o — NUJLNEEK BATRERRAE L -
IS THURTE O - /£ LI T AR
Wim RS o B HBA T
PR YR S S B Y Y SE A
B R [ B R | AR i
— AR T ALt i BB A4 DURAE B RE
BT TREBITAEE ] BT RAERE T
— A AV s 2 R B A — 0 o

SR B AT R R REFTRIRT
BREREIAS - EEER TS — R
it > PLEIRA RV ERUA o AR R HEE
A TRRER I 1R R H BT -
U
B it Hh E TG RS2 AR E IR > TR
PERK - RS TR - ZERIRBE T > MRILE
¥EEAEN TS FEZ [ RRLEE T
FIHH RS T ARERE -

A B R SO KR A I H A b
HHAE BV BUNREM B T o WSO L
S B 565 A 22 M R UILAE A B
ARG o PERERA RG] B
B LA o TSR0 R TR L s A 1T
ARG HAE o FCEIEEE H TSR TTIT >
A ATy ] G o SR > DA B A A
BRAF BN EEE -

il KB R B 860 5 K BATH
FEAROIRE A L\AE A 5E L B EFIAR
& 6300 MM 5 JUBESE [3L—3k) i
Ji B A 7 00 B 2 DA SRy R
T R E A 900 ©



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

OUTLOOK

The economic conditions in the region will remain challenging in 1999.
Therefore, we will continue to focus our effort on increasing the
Company’s recurrent cash flow and reducing the debt level. Fortunately,
CITIC Pacific’s substantial recurrent cash flow from infrastructure is
reliable and strong, and with this as a base we can face the future with
confidence. Our focus continues to be on infrastructure, trading and
distribution, and residential property development.

Our priority in 1999 will be to continue to complete power projects
currently in their construction phase and obtain approval for further
stations, to start the Discovery Bay residential development and expand
DCH’s business in the Mainland. CITIC Pacific will take this
opportunity to prepare for the future by identifying new projects for
future implementation that balance risk and return in a way that will
enhance the shareholder’s return.

CITIC Pacific has always been committed to enhancing shareholder
value and will continue to seek to do so through investments that
increases earnings per share and return on investment. However, a
quick economic recovery is not expected and there are many changes to
the environment in which we operate, so a prudent approach to new
business is appropriate.

CITIC Pacific is fortunate to have the support of most of the world’s
major banks and financial institutions during its development. I would
like to take this opportunity to thank them for their continued faith in
CITIC Pacific, and to thank my fellow directors and all the staff in the
Company, its subsidiaries and associates, for their dedication and hard

work during the last year.

Larry Yung Chi Kin Chairman
Hong Kong , 18 March 1999
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Review of Operations

CITIC Pacific’s business activities continue to be concentrated in Hong
Kong, Macau and Mainland China. The Company’s long term objective
remains to develop a large diversified business focusing on infrastructure
and supported by trading and distribution, and property development.
The deteriorating economic environment in 1998 presented many
challenges. Some of CITIC Pacific’s business were adversely affected
particularly the aviation and trading businesses. The contribution from
the property sector was also reduced from 1997 which was a record
year. However, the Company’s core businesses such as power generation
and operation of civil facilities remain relatively stable. Strong and
reliable cash flow generated from these businesses served the Company
well under an extremely volatile market condition in 1998. The
Company’s financial position remains strong with a reduction of total net
debt by HK$1,417 million compared to the end of 1997. A detailed

review of the Company’s business operations by segment is as follows:
INFRASTRUCTURE

POWER GENERATION

Installed Capacity

B o

Ownership  (in Megawatts)

Location £ TG CkER)

Ligang Jiangsu {Lff 56.3% 1,400
Xinli Henan R 50% 600
Kaifeng Henan {174 50% 125
Huhhot Inner Mongolia FZH 35% s
Pudong (Noe) Shanghai L# 25% 1,200
CLP Holdings Limited Hong Kong GRS 20.3% 7,951

Note : In early 1999, CITIC Pacific sold its 25% interest in the Pudong Power Plant to the
Joint venture partner. CITIC Pacific’s strategy is to concentrate its resources on power plants

in which the Company has more operational control.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Contribution to earnings

Year HK$ million Proportion of total earnings
FE R E LA E I
1998 1,263 45%
1997 912 22%

The Ligang coal-fired power station located near the city of Wuxi in Jiangsu
province in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) has a total design
capacity of over 3,000 Megawatts (“MW™). The phase I (2 x 350 MW) was
installed in 1993 and continued to operate well. During 1998 both units of
the phase Il (also 2 x 350 MW) were successfully installed and commissioned
for commercial operations bringing total installed capacity at Ligang to
1,400 MW. The four units generated a total of 4,960 million Kwh of
electricity in 1998. Feasibility study and planning for phase Il are in
progress.

The Xinli coal-fired power station is located in Zhengzhou, Henan
province in the PRC. The station has a design capacity of 1,200 MW.
Currently, total installed capacity is 600 MW consisting of phase 1
(2 x 200 MW) and phase II (1 x 200 MW). A total of 3,020 million Kwh
of electricity was generated by the Xinli plant in 1998. The phase 111
development plan (2 x 300 MW) has been approved by the relevant
government agencies and the feasibility study is in progress.

Kaifeng power station, which is also in Henan province in the PRC, has a
design capacity of 725 MW. The phase I (1 x 125 MW) station generated
631 million Kwh of electricity in 1998. Preparation work for the
construction of phase II (2 x 300 MW) is underway.

Feasibility study and planning for the construction of a 2 x 200 MW
power station in Huhhot, Inner Mongolia was approved by the relevant
government agencies. Detailed study is underway and construction is
expected to commence soon. CITIC Pacific will have 35% equity interest

in this project.
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CITIC Pacific has a 20.3% equity interest in CLLP Holdings Limited
(“CLP™), the principal activities of which are electricity generation,
transmission and distribution under a scheme of control in Hong Kong.
The Company also has investments in the power business in the Asia
Pacific region. CLP currently has total installed capacity of 7,951 MW
and is the largest power company in Hong Kong.

CLP reported better than expected result for its fiscal year ended 30
September 1998. Net profit reached HK$8.14 billion, 40.9% higher
than the previous year. Excluding an exceptional profit of HK$1.54
billion from the redevelopment and sales of properties at the former
power station site of Hok Un, CLP’s operating earnings increased by
14.2% to HK$6.6 billion. Total turnover was increased to HK$24
billion from HK$21.6 billion in 1997. For the three month period
ended 31 December 1998 (first quarter of 1998-1999 fiscal year), CLP
reported total turnover of HKS$5.77 billion, 8.8% higher than the same

period in the prior year.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

CIVIL FACILITIES

Yang Pu bridge

Nan Pu bridge

Xu Pu bridge

Chongqing Chang Jiang LJT bridge

Da Pu Lu tunnel

Yanan East Road tunnel

Hu Jia toll road

Wuxi Jin Kui toll road (Note)

Wuxi water plants (Note)

Nanjing water plants (Note)

Western Harbour Crossing

Eastern Harbour Crossing
-road

-rail

Note : In early 1999, CITIC Pacific sold its interest in the water plants in Nanjing and Wuaxt,

Location
Shanghai
Shanghai
Shanghai

Chongqing
Shanghai
Shanghai
Shanghai

Wuxi, Jiangsu
Wuxi, Jiangsu
Nanjing, Jiangsu
Hong Kong
Hong Kong

and the toll road in Wuxi to our partners in these projects.

Contribution to earnings

Year 1KS million
o A
1998 889
1997 745

Ownership

5 i
L 45%
L 45%
L 45%
EE 50%
L 45%
L 50%
BB 45%
ILEED  50%
LIS 499
LHFR 49%
(3 35%
64%

10%

Proportion of total earnings

AR E L]
32%
18%

CITIC Pacific has an interest in all the cross Huangpu River facilities

consisting of two tunnels and three bridges which connecting Pu Dong,

the government designated Special Economic Development Area, and Pu

Xi, the old part of the city in Shanghai. In 1998, traffic throughput of

these facilities in aggregate was 65.1 million vehicles, an increase of

12.9% compared to 1997. With the continued expansion of the road

network in both sides of the Huangpu River and the opening of the new

international airport in Pu Dong in the year 2000, cross river traffic
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throughput is expected to increase substantially in the coming years.

CITIC Pacific also has a 45% interest in a co-operative joint venture
company owning a 20-year franchise to operate the 21km Hu Jia toll
road linking Shanghai and the municipality of Jia Ding. Traffic
throughput for the year ended 31 December 1998 increased by 3.4%
compared to the previous year.

In late 1997, CITIC Pacific acquired a 50% interest in a 20-year
franchise to operate the Chongqing Chang Jiang LIT bridge (“Chang
Jiang” means “Long River” or known as “Yangtze River”). This bridge
is composed of a 10.2km, dual two-lane main bridge and approaching
roads which include 5 bridges, 4 interchanges and 2 tunnels. The
bridge links the Sichuan Chengyu Expressway in the north and
Sichuan-Guizhou Highway in the south. For the year ended
31 December 1998, the traffic throughput reached 4.28 million vehicles.

CITIC Pacific’s strategy of investing in the civil facilities in the
Mainland has been to focus on completed facilities or projects which are
near completion. Thus the Company has been able to minimise
construction risks and realise return and cash flow immediately or
within a short period of time. The Company has concentrated its
investments in and around large cities such as Shanghai and Chongqing.
In selecting project for investment, economic fundamentals are essential
so that stable income and reliable cash flow can be ensured during the
life of the franchise. Over the long term however, investing in greenfield
projects may be feasible as the skills in the development of large civil
projects continue to improve in Mainland China.

CITIC Pacific acquired a controlling interest in the Eastern Harbour
Crossing (“EHC”) road tunnel late in 1997 increasing its shareholding

from 28.5% to 64%. A 50% toll increase was implemented effective

1 January 1998. This tunnel has a design capacity of 80,000 vehicle per

day and in 1998 daily traffic throughput is around 71,000 cars. A study
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

is underway for a direct link to the tunnel from the proposed West
Coast Road development. It is expected that strong earnings and stable
cash flows will continue to be generated from EHC.

CITIC Pacific is one of the major shareholders (35%) in a consortium
to Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) the Western Harbour Crossing
(“WHC”) for which it has a 30-year franchise. This US$1 billion project
was the only private investment project among the ten core projects of
the Hong Kong’s new airport. WHC is also a key section of the Route
3 highway which links Hong Kong and Mainland China. Since the
opening of WHC, traffic has grown steadily and at the end of 1998,
daily traffic throughput has exceeded 40,000 vehicles. However, the
traffic volume is below the original projections due to the greater than
expected toll difference comparing to other cross harbour tunnels and
congestion in the road network leading to the WHC. The economic down-
turn in Hong Kong has also contributed to the decrease in overall cross
harbour traffic. In its newly released 1999 budget, the Government
proposes that upon the expiration of the Cross Harbour Tunnel franchise
in September 1999, tolls for private cars and motorcycles will be
increased narrowing the toll differentials to the advantage of the WHC.

In 1998, total cash flows generated from civil facilities amounted to

approximately HK$1 billion, increased by about 92% compared to 1997.

ENVIRONMENT

Ownership
Location 8k HHHE

South East N T Landfill Hong Kong % 30%

(“Green Valley Landfill”)

Chemical Waste Treatment Plant Hong Kong i 20%

(“Enviropace”)

West Kowloon Transfer Station Hong Kong Ei 30%

North Lantau Transfer Station Hong Kong Ei 50%
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Contribution to earnings

Year 1KS million Proportion of total earnings
R N BT T (L il
1998 42 1%
1997 41 1%

The Green Valley Landfill at Junk Bay, in the South East New
Territories of Hong Kong, is a landfill of 100 hectares. In 1998, over
2.8 million tonnes of waste was processed, an average of 7,842 tonnes
per day. well above the budget capacity of 7,101 tonnes per day.

Enviropace, located on Tsing Yi Island, is the only chemical waste
treatment plant in Hong Kong. 74,269 tonnes of waste was treated in
1998 compared to 67,929 tonnes in 1997. 22,445 tonnes of treated and
reusable material was sold, an increased of 32% over last year. Trial
operation for clinical waste treatment with the existing incineration
plant was conducted and an environmental assessment will be prepared
for public consultation.

The West Kowloon Transfer Station has a design capacity of 2,500
tonnes per day. The Station was commissioned and over 528,000
tonnes of waste was processed in 1998.

CITIC Pacific also has a 50% interest in a 17-year contract to build
and operate a waste transfer station with a capacity of 1,200 tonnes per
day in North Lantau serving the Chek Lap Kok Airport, Discovery Bay
and nearby areas. Construction of the project was completed and
operation commenced in late 1998.

All these environmental projects are in partnership with WMX
Technologies, Inc., one of the world’s leading companies in the
environmental protection business who contributes technical expertise
while CITIC Pacific contributes local knowledge about infrastructure

and construction.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

AVIATION
Ownership
Location i A
Cathay Pacific Hong Kong 7 25.4%
Dragonair Hong Kong % 28.5%
HK Air Cargo Terminals Hong Kong 7 10%

Contribution to earnings

Year HKS million Proportion of total earnings
EEE R AR E L]
1998 () -
1997 538 13%

Based in Hong Kong, Cathay Pacific is an international passenger and
freight carrier serving major cities in Europe, the Middle East, North
America, South Africa and major destinations in Asia. CITIC Pacific has
25.4% equity interest in Cathay Pacific and is the second largest
shareholder of the company. Cathay Pacific’s fleet consists of 62
aircraft as of 31 December 1998: 25 Boeing 747, 8 Boeing 777,

12 Airbus 330s, 11 Airbus 340s passenger aircraft and 6 Boeing B747
freighters.

Dragonair is a major regional airline in which CITIC Pacific has
28.5% equity interest and is the second largest shareholder. Dragonair
provides service to 18 cities in Mainland China and remains the airline
of choice for passengers travelling to and from the Mainland China.
Dragonair also operates scheduled and charter services to 9 cities in
North and South East Asia. The airline has one of the youngest fleets of
aircraft of the world’s airlines comprising 7 Airbus 320s and 6 Airbus

330s aircraft.
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The financial crisis in the region has significantly slowed the economic
activity in Asia, Hong Kong included. The operating environment was
extremely difficult for airlines in 1998. The number of tourists visiting
Hong Kong reduced dramatically starting from late 1997 and the
number of business travellers also decreased. Cathay Pacific reported a
net loss attributable to shareholders of HK$542 million for 1998.
Compared with the previous year, total turnover in 1998 decreased by
12.9% to HK$26,695 million. Under these difficult conditions, Cathay
Pacific’s management has focused on unit cost reduction aimed at
continued improvement in the company’s operating efficiency. The
airline remains as one of the most efficient airlines in the world and is
well positioned to benefit when the economy recovers.

During 1998, Cathay Pacific moved its corporate headquarters to the
new “Cathay City”, a multi-billion dollar development at the new Hong
Kong airport. The complex consists of office buildings, hotels and other
facilities contributing greatly to the efficiency of the airline.

Despite the challenging market, Dragonair maintained profitability
carrying 2.1 million passengers in 1998. Cargo business recorded strong
growth. The airline uplifted 43,600 tonnes of cargo in 1998, an increase
of 11% over 1997. Dragonair continues to press for the expansion of
new destinations and frequencies. New services to Fuzhou were added
while the frequency to Shanghai was increased in 1998. Construction of
Dragonair’s new headquarters at the Chek Lap Kok airport is
progressing well for completion by the end of 1999.

Before opening of the new airport in Hong Kong, HACTL, in which
CITIC Pacific has 10% interest, provided the sole baggage and cargo
handling facility at Hong Kong’s Kai Tak Airport. The company was
awarded a new franchise for cargo handling at the new Hong Kong

airport at Chek Lap Kok, but in a competitive environment. A new
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

terminal named “Super Terminal 1”7 was built which consists of an
air-cargo handling facility with a capacity of 2.4 million tonnes per vyear,
plus a 200,000 tonnes per year express freight centre. The new facility
was completed and started operation in July 1998 to coincide with the
opening of the new Hong Kong airport.

Despite the difficulties experienced at beginning of its operations at

Chek Lap Kok, the new facility is now operating at a high level of

efficiency.
TELECOMMUNICATIONS
Ownership

Location i T
CTM (Macau Telecom) Macau "] 20%
Contribution to earnings
Year HKS million Proportion of total earnings
EEE R AR E L]
1998 44 2%
1997 248 6%

CITIC Pacific has 20% interest in CTM. The company is the franchise
provider of public telecommunications services in Macau, including
international and domestic telephone services, leased circuits, mobile
telephone services, value added services, internet and network services.
The present franchise expires in 2001 and negotiations for its renewal
are in progress. CTM is highly regarded for its state of the art
equipment and services. To further enhance its service capabilities, the
company continues its investment program with over MOP290 million

invested in new equipment in 1998.
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Despite continued slowdown in the Macau economy, C'TM reported a
net profit after tax of MOP337 million for the year ended 31 December
1998, a slight increase over 1997. The increase was mainly from the

growth in mobile phone and internet services.

TRADING AND DISTRIBUTION

Ownership

Location &) L

Dah Chong Hong Hong Kong %’?% 1 000/0
Manhattan Card Hong Kong HH 20%
Contribution to earnings

Year HKS million Proportion of total earnings
FE HERE BTG (L il
1998 336 12%
1997 373 9%

DAH CHONG HONG

Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited (“DCH™), a 100% owned
subsidiary of CITIC Pacific, is a major Hong Kong based trading
company with substantial operations in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, and business in Japan, Canada and Singapore.

DCH is one of the largest motor distributors in Hong Kong. Its motor
business includes the distribution of motor vehicles, the provision of
after-sale service and the sale of accessories and parts. It markets a
diversified range of passenger vehicles and commercial vehicles in Hong
Kong, Mainland China and Macau, representing Acura, Audi, DAF,
Honda, Isuzu, IVECO, MAN, Nissan, Nissan Diesel PACCAR and
Volkswagen. In addition, DCH operates 3 purpose-built motor service
centres in Hong Kong. The total gross floor area of these service centres
approximate 1,300,000 sq.ft. Over the last several years, DCH has

established joint venture motor showrooms, vehicle maintenance and
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

spare parts supply facilities in over ten major cities throughout Mainland
China. DCH also signed a number of distributorship and agency
agreements for a wide range of branded automobiles in Mainland China,
including locally produced vehicles such as Qingling and Isuzu Beijing
light bus. As the economic development continues to advance rapidly in
China, car distribution and related business poses good growth potential.

DCH’s trading division imports, exports and re-exports a large number
of items including rice and cereals, edible oils, Chinese foodstuffs, meat
and produce, cosmetics, building materials, home electrical appliances
and audio-visual equipment.

DCH supplies food to wholesalers and the catering industry in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. DCH also operates a chain of DCH Food
Marts in Hong Kong.

DCH experienced a difficult year in 1998. Amidst continued economic
downturn, sales turnover fell 11% compared with 1997. Motor sales
declined by 25%, which was partially offset by a 7% growth in general
trading sales.

Although the vehicle market in Hong Kong contracted by 26%, DCH
only recorded a drop of 16% in sales volume and increased its market
share from 26% to 29%. However, as a result of keen competition,
profit margins were generally lower than those in 1997.

The Mainland China vehicle market was weak but progress has been
made in the sale of domestically manufactured vehicles which will serve
DCH well in the future.

Food trading in both Hong Kong and Mainland China had solid
growth in 1998. Engineering business also recorded sales growth thanks
to the contracts secured in the past years. Electrical appliances sales
were adversely affected by a weak consumer market in Hong Kong and

Mainland China. Cosmetics sales were slightly less than that in 1997.
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In November 1998, DCH entered into a joint venture with Shiseido
Company Limited targeting at further business expansion in Hong Kong
and Mainland China.

In 1998, significant progress was made in DCH’s continued drive to
expand its businesses in Mainland China. Two joint ventures were
established in Shanghai to produce chickens and pigs. DCH teamed up
with Perdue and lowa Beef Packers, the world famous chicken and pig
producer respectively, in these ventures. Operations at these two joint
ventures have already been started. These ventures will provide synergy
with DCH’s existing food trading and distribution capabilities. DCH
sees great business potential for domestic food market in and around
Shanghai.

During 1998, DCH also set up “DCH Cooked Food™” chain stores in
Shanghai as part of the long-term strategy to develop a nation-wide
cooked food distribution network in China.

In response to a deteriorating operational environment, a cost saving
program, which included a 14% reduction in headcount, was implemented
during the year.

MANHATTAN CARD

In January 1998, Manhattan Card Co. Limited was privatised by the

majority shareholder. CITIC Pacific sold all its shareholdings in the

company for a total cash proceeds of HK$835 million.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

PROPERTY

CITIC Tower Office 7

Festival Walk

DCH Commercial Centre Office 7

Discovery Bay Residential Township % Lantau Island
The Paragon Residential E%1E Tai Po
Tierra Verde Residential EEE Tsing Yi MTR

Residential/ F€/
Commercial HZEE

Canton Road

Various %M

Investment properties

Note : Except for property DCH owns in Japan and Singapore for mainly operational purposes,
the properties are in Hong Kong.

Contribution to earnings

Year HK$ million Proportion of total earnings
FE R E LA E I
1998 182 6%
1997 1,242 30%

CITIC Pacific’s involvement in the property development has evolved
gradually. The Company has built up a property development team
capable of managing large-scale residential and commercial
development. A number of property development projects were completed
or made progress in 1998.

CITIC Pacific’s new headquarters - CITIC Tower is a new landmark on
the Hong Kong waterfront. The building includes 562,000 sq.ft. of
offices, restaurants and retail shops. A footbridge links the CITIC Tower
to Admiralty MTR station. The whole project was completed in only two
years from the date when the land was acquired to occupation permit.
This well demonstrates the skill of our property development team. The
building attracted well-known local and multinational tenants and is
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currently 86% occupied. All of CITIC Pacific corporate staff moved to
the new office in January 1998.

Discovery Bay is a well-planned residential development on a site of
over 1,500 acres on the island of Lantau, Hong Kong. This development
is strategically located as the Lantau Island is one of the future growth
areas in Hong Kong following the opening of the new Hong Kong
airport. A number of key infrastructure such as North Lantau
Expressway, Cheung Tsing Tunnel and WHC have been developed to
link the Lantau Island with Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and New
Territories. Significant infrastructure (reservoir, sewage system, road
and etc.) has been installed at Discovery Bay which have the capacity to
support 25,000 residents.

The land premium for the phase 9 and phase 10 development which
will consist of total floor areas of 353,000 sq.ft. has recently been finalised
at HKS623 per sq.ft. Construction is in progress and completion is
expected by the 2nd quarter of year 2000. A master plan to build an
additional floor area of 2.3 million sq.ft. has been approved by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The
negotiation over the land premium is expected to be finalised soon. The
construction work for the tunnel connecting Discovery Bay to the new
airport road system is progressing well. Tunnel breakthrough is
scheduled in April 1999 and completion is expected by end of 1999.
The completion of the tunnel will also facilitate water and electricity
supply and waste disposal for the future development at Discovery Bay.

Discovery Bay Transportation Services Limited, of which CITIC Pacific
has 50% interest, was recently awarded a franchise for the Central/
Tsimshatsui Fast inner harbour ferry services. Operation will commence
on 1 April 1999.

CITIC Pacific is an equal partmer with the Swire Group in the

development of a 1.2 million sq.ft. shopping and office complex named
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Festival Walk. The site of the complex is favourably positioned at the
intersection of the Kowloon Canton Railway and Mass Transit Railway
Stations in Tat Chee Avenue, Kowloon. The development has been
completed and the shopping mall was opened for the Christmas season.
The mall has been attracting very large crowds since opened which
improved leasing sentiment. Currently, over 90% of the retail space is
occupied.

Following the completion of a 600,000 sq.ft. motor service centre at
Ap Lei Chau which replaced the Quarry Bay Motor Service Centre, a
high quality 389,000 sq.ft. office block named DCH Commercial Centre
has been built at the old site. The occupation permit was obtained in
July 1998. Despite very difficult market conditions, over 65% of the
total lettable floor area of DCH Commercial Centre is currently leased.

Against the background of a significant downturn in Hong Kong
property market, sales of 50 flats continued during the year at The
Paragon, a well-designed high quality residential project developed by
CITIC Pacific. Only two penthouses remain unsold.

CITIC Pacific has 20% interest in a consortium led by the Cheung
Kong Group which has development rights above the Tsing Yi MTR
station on the line to the new airport. The sales of Tierra Verde during
1998 were a great success. Over 3,000 residential units were sold in
1998 generating cash flow to CITIC Pacific of over HK$1.6 billion to
date. The occupation permit for phase | was received in January 1999
and for the phase Il development, the occupation permit is expected to
be awarded in July 1999. Therefore, the profit for the project will be
booked in 1999.

During 1998, CITIC Pacific joined in a consortium (15% interest) led
by the Cheung Kong Group to acquire a land site at Canton Road in
Kowloon for residential / commercial development. Demolition work is

in progress at the site.

22

FH O

RN FURE R i BB R R T R
HUGZ SRR - B AL E A2 R o T —
W, BEEE AR  EYELE R
AR o BFIRLIR - B AR
BB AT o Bl MRS TR HE
90% °

TR 37581 77 IR B IR A e s o
DR B R R iR - B
HRE AT R = AB TR
RN FERE - WAL TRETEED
Ly o ZHLR— UL B B ALK
e BETWAR - (ERETEEDLEM
A 65% & I H AT o
BEEEVETSEEEY - AP ERE
BE - BHBERSGTCARETEE "ER
i, REREEEHAHEENY - 2SR
S {1 TEU B oz R HE o
DURITEE A EM T ERERH20% M
BRI S BRI, R E
R o BRI UL S T
GRERZ - BB =THEBEA—&m
% ZHEATEREWAREREEE
AR - BEFEBE-MZAKKER
— NN — FHE - 5 I A LKA
R — S R - I - ZEE
R — FLILILEE AR
PEEER-NNNFSET —HHRIL
SR E I (1h15%HEaE) - Yo — IR
RABERERE % [ mEMt - il T2
IEAEE T

i



Preparation works are also underway for two residential development
projects: Hung Shui Kiu (planned GFA of 537,000 sq.ft.) and Tung
Chau Street (planned GFA of 200,000 sq.ft.). When the market
sentiment improves, these potential projects together with the
development at Discovery Bay provide CITIC Pacific with ample

landbank in future residential development.

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING

Ownership

Location  #8; wfE

Jiangyin Xing Cheng Steel Works Wuxi 685 55%
Jiangyin Xingcheng Special Steel Works Wuxi 8 55%
Wuxi Tong Ling Cable Wuxi 8 34%
Wuxi Huada Motors Wuxi 685 55%

Note: Wuxi is a major industrial city in Jiangsu province, PRC

Contribution to earnings

Year HKS million Proportion of total earnings
R HERE BTG (L il
1998 23 1%
1997 22 1%

Jiangyin Xing Cheng Steel Works produces many grades of carbon and
alloy steel. Under a very challenging market situation for the steel
industry in China due to over supply, the company reported a pre-tax
net profit of RMB50.5 million for the year ended 31 December 1998.
Jiangyin Xingcheng Special Steel Works is a new 600,000 tonnes per
year steel mill. Installation and testing of all the main equipment
including the rolling mill equipment have been completed. In 1998,
167,000 tonnes of steel and 51,600 tonnes of steel products were
produced. This new steel mill is equipped with the most modern
production facilities from Germany, and is one of the most efficient

special steel plant in China.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Wauxi Tong Ling Cable produces both copper and optical cables for the

video broadcast and telecommunications industries. Pirelli Cable, an

Italian industrial group with extensive experience in cable manufacturing

is a partner in this company. Progress has been made in operating
efficiency. The plant reported a small loss for 1998 which showed
significant improvement over last year.

Wuxi Huada Motors Company produces small to medium range
electrical motors for industrial and agricultural applications. In 1998,
Huada Motors was successful in introducing its products to the

European market and achieved higher earnings over last year.

YEAR 2000

The Group has adopted as its definition of Year 2000 compliance the
Year 2000 Conformity Requirements (PD2000-1: 1998) issued by the
British Standards Institution : “Year 2000 conformity shall mean that
neither performance nor functionality is affected by dates prior to,
during and after the Year 2000”.

CITIC Pacific formed a Year 2000 Group Steering Committee in

March 1998. It is chaired by a main Board Director and its mission is to

ensure that appropriate actions are being taken in businesses that are
material to the Group in terms of assets, cash flows or profits to address

non Year 2000 compliant issues. This Committee provides policy

guidance to the Group and monitors progress through monthly meetings.

Year 2000 steering committees have been formed in subsidiary

companies sponsored by their chief executive officers and their progress
is regularly reported to and reviewed by the Group Steering Committee.
The progress of CITIC Pacific’s associated companies and joint ventures

is monitored by regular visits and periodic briefings.
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The objective of the CITIC Pacific Year 2000 programme is to ensure
that the Group’s business critical systems using dates to perform
important functions and calculations will operate as they currently do,
through and after the year 2000. The programme involves taking
comprehensive inventories, performing impact analysis, carrying out
remediation, and testing all business critical systems to ensure they shall
be Year 2000 compliant. As at the end of December 1998, CITIC
Pacific and its subsidiaries have completed over 50% of the procedures
in relation to the Year 2000 compliance programme. The Group aims to
achieve Year 2000 compliance by the middle of 1999.

Suppliers, vendors, service providers and business partners are being
asked to confirm that their products and services are Year 2000
compliant. Non-compliant systems will be upgraded or replaced if the
non-compliance compromises the operation of the business. The Group
is mindful of the adverse effects on its business as a result of any third
parties failing to be Year 2000 compliant. Contingency plans are being
developed by the Group to manage the risk of failure and to minimise
the potential impact of any disruptions to its operations. Major
contingency plans are reviewed by the Group Steering Committee and
will be monitored regularly. External expert advice has been and will be
sought as necessary.

The Group is currently discussing the issue of insurance for Year 2000
related matters with its insurers. It is possible that insurance may not be
available to cover Year 2000 related events.

The remedial expenditure identified up to the end of 1998 is in the
region of HK$14 million. In addition, Year 2000 non-compliance has
been addressed in the course of regular systems development but the
element attributable to Year 2000 cannot be quantified. At the conclusion
of the Year 2000 test plan, further expenditure could be identified

depending on the chosen solution to the problem.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group has taken and will continue to take reasonable steps
necessary to ensure that its internal business systems and equipment will
enable it to be Year 2000 compliant in a timely manner and its business

will not be materially interrupted by Year 2000 non-compliance.

THE COMMUNITY

CITIC Pacific helps the less well-off in our community by being a major
donor to the Community Chest of Hong Kong. Dah Chong Hong also
contributes to the Chest in its own name. Many hundreds of our staff
participated in Chest events such as the Dress Casual Day, and the
Walks for Millions. In 1998 CITIC Pacific also supported the flood relief

efforts in Mainland China and numerous other charities.
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Financial Review and Analysis

REVIEW OF 1998 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS
Net Profit

The net profit attributable to shareholders in 1998 was HK$2,808 million
compared with HK$4,140 million in 1997 (excluding a non-recurrent
gain of HK$3.236 million), a reduction of 32%. The following charts
exclude the profit from the sale of Hongkong Telecom and Dragonair

(1996: HK$3.298 million, 1997: HK$3,2306 million).
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Viewed as a percentage of the total, the
increasing contribution from power
generation and civil infrastructure can be
easily seen.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Compared with 1997, power generation increased because CITIC
Pacific’s association with CLP begun in March 1997. In 1998 CLP
recorded an exceptional profit from property sales as well as growth
in its base business.

The increased profit from Civil Infrastructure is mainly because the Wuxi
Toll Road, Chongqing Bridge and an additional interest in the Eastern
Harbour Tunnel were acquired in late 1997.

Telecommunications income reduced as CITIC Pacific sold shares in
HKT in 1996 and 1997. In 1998 only Macau Telecom continued to
contribute.

The contribution from Aviation decreased due to the loss sustained by
Cathay Pacific in 1998 offset by a reduced profit from Dragonair.

Property sales in 1998 were limited to the few flats remaining at The
Paragon. Property rental income increased due to the full year effect of
income from CITIC Tower and the newly completed buildings like DCH

Commercial Centre and Festival Walk.
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Property Valuation

A property valuation was performed on CITIC Pacific’s investment
properties by an independent qualified valuer. There was a net surplus
for the year of HKS57 million as a result of the surplus on newly
completed projects DCH Commercial Centre and Festival Walk offsetting

a reduction in the value of other properties.

Taxation

The level of tax decreased owing to a lower profit base. About 74% of
tax charged to the Profit and Loss Account was paid by associated
companies compared to 68% in 1997. The increase is mainly due to

increase in the taxation charge at CLP.

Shareholders’ Returns

CITIC Pacific’s primary objective is to increase shareholder value for
which it has used earnings per share as a proxy. The Company expects
its businesses to provide a return on investment over their lives that will

provide shareholders with an adequate return on equity.

Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share were 132 HK cents in 1998 a decrease of 32%
compared with 1997 excluding the non-recurring sale of Hongkong
Telecom and Dragonair shares in 1996 and 1997. This is similar to the
decrease in net profit as there was no material difference in the weighted

average number of shares in both years.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Earnings Per Share SR&F
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Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity has grown steadily from 1990 when shareholders’
equity was HK$1.2 billion. The Company has added additional share-
holders” fund of HK$40.7 billion of which HK$21 billion was generated
from new equity and HK$19.7 billion from the Company’s operation. In

addition dividends of HK$9.3 billion were paid from 1990 to 1998.
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Shareholders’ Equity Per Share EIg RS

Shareholders” equity per share was HK$19.7 compared with HK$18.9 in BB RS A 19,770 TT— UL ES
1997. AIZ5 % 18.9 7T °
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FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Dividend Per Share

An interim dividend of 20 HK cents per share was paid in September
1998 and it is proposed to pay a final dividend of 50 HK cents per share
on 14 June 1999 giving a total regular dividend of 70 HK cents per share
for 1998, unchanged from 1997. An additional special dividend of

30 HK cents per share was paid in 1996 and 1997 out of the non-recurring

profit on the sale of business interests. The dividends paid and payable

in 1998 will cost a total of HK$1.5 billion.
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Capital Expenditure
1998 capital expenditure of HK$2.9 billion was largely for the completion
of Festival Walk and DCH Commercial Centre and the development of
Discovery Bay and Canton Road.

Additional investment was also made in existing infrastructure
projects.

In 1999 the Group presently expects that the Group will invest
HKS$1.6 billion mainly on infrastructure projects in Mainland China

and existing property developments.
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Turnover

Turnover in the consolidated accounts includes the revenue from the

HK$billion BHEEIRETT

Capital Expenditure ZEZFX
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Company and its subsidiaries. It excludes the substantial part of CITIC

Pacific’s business conducted through associated companies.

By Business
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FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Motor turnover fell 25% in 1998 due to reduced sales volume and
margins. However, food and other trading turnover increased 7%
compared with 1997.

Turnover from the power and civil infrastructure sector grew by 51%
due to a full year contribution from the PRC toll roads and Eastern
Harbour Tunnel acquired in late 1997. Property sales revenue
decreased as fewer property were completed and available for sale in

1998 than in 1997.

GROUP LIQUIDITY

CITIC Pacific aims to finance its business with liabilities appropriate to
the cash flows from each business, employing limited or non-recourse
project finance when it is available. Financing and cash management
activities of the Group are centralized at the corporate level except that
operating businesses such as Dah Chong Hong may be delegated
authority to arrange short term trade finance.

Currency risks are closely managed by financing non Hong Kong
dollar assets as far as possible with matching debt. For instance the USS
cash flows arising from most infrastructure projects in Mainland China
are matched against USS debt. At 31 December 1998 such businesses
required financing of US$1.3 billion. The denomination of the Group’s

liabilities at 31 December 1998 after currency swaps were:
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The level of the Group’s total debt increased in 1997 due to the
purchase of 20% of CLP Holdings which was partially financed with
debt. At the end of 1998, the Group’s total debt amounted to HK$22.1
billion, deposits with banks were HKS0.9 billion. Net debt was HK$21.2
billion, some HKS1.4 billion below the level at the end of 1997.
Undrawn facilities available to the Group totalled HK$4.1 billion of
which approximately HK$1 billion were committed revolving facilities,
HK$S$2.1 billion were money market lines and the balance were trade

facilities.

Total Debt BER%A
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CITIC Pacific employs a combination of financial instruments to
manage the fixed and floating interest rate and currency mix of its total
debt portfolio with a view to minimising the overall cost of borrowing.
At the end of 1998 approximately 30% of the Group’s total outstanding
debt was effectively hedged into fixed rate of interest.

The total nominal amount of interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and
forward rate agreement outstanding at 31 December 1998 was HK$5.2

billion with 13 financial institutions.

35

F R A R B 152 MR 209 HE 2 5 2 B] DUER R
IPAEHR B ES - HREE-tEZ
AR LT c BENNNAER - K
REz AR AEE S —EoT o T
HATH R AEE AR - FARMER ZH
— IR B B EREZE AR
AR » ARE MR EIUZ M RE
BN+ —ET - PR HETA
EAGH ZIBREH S R AR E
T B TERER 2 H S &K

After fifth year

FHAFERE

In the third to fifth years 1n('lu51ve
giﬂﬁw/@ﬁg

In the second year

In the first year
i

FEEE U Az S/ TAHRKE R
KB Al PR ERHE R EEAS
EmHBEREREESEAE - R—NINFE
I AREE M AREEZ ABERETO30%E
HERSE A E A E o
BE-NAANETZAZ+—H  FEE
REN A ZRA] ~ F) 2 EIREAT R R
R L+ 20T - AFRHE
TEHKERBEIETT

lTI



FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Leverage

Leverage as measured by net debt/shareholders’ equity was 51% at

31 December 1998 compared with 56% at the end of 1997. The

decrease is the result of a net cash inflow during 1998.
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Interest Cover

EBITDA/Interest expenses was 4.0 in 1998 compared to 6.1 in 1997.

The decrease in interest cover is mainly due to the decrease in profit and
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a reduction in interest expenses capitalized during the construction

period of projects, following the projects’” completion.
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Banking

CITIC Pacific maintains borrowing relationships with over 80 banks.
During 1998 a US$125 million US$ commercial paper program was
arranged to get the Group’s name better known in the United States

commercial paper market. Four new bilateral term loans totaling

HK$540 million were established.

Cash Flow
Cash contributed from all business to the Company in 1998 amounted
to HK$6.8 billion. The infrastructure sector contributed approximately
HKS$2.6 billion mainly from CLP Holdings and the Mainland power
generation and civil facility businesses. Cash flow from the aviation
sector was significantly lower due to lower profits in 1998. The cash
contribution from Dah Chong Hong was lower than the previous year
due to less favourable trading conditions and investment in the Mainland
food sector. The privatisation of Manhattan Card Company yielded
CITIC Pacific a cash flow of HK$835 million. The property sector
produced a significant cash inflow of over HKS$3 billion which was
mainly related to the sales of apartments and at the “Paragon” in Tai Po
and “Tierra Verde” above the Tsing Yi MTR station. The profit from the
“Tierra Verde” sales will be recognised in 1999 as the occupation permit
was issued in 1999.

The excess of cash inflow over the capital expenditure and payment
of interest and dividends was used to reduce net debt by approximately

HK$1.4 billion.
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Corporate Governance

CITIC Pacific is committed to excellent standards of governance and first
class business practices.

Board of Directors

The Board, consisting of seven executive and seven non-executive
directors, meets four times a year to review financial and operating
performance and discuss future strategy.

The Audit Committee of the Board reviews the system of internal
controls throughout the Group, the completeness and accuracy of its
financial statements, and liaises on behalf of the Board with external and
internal auditors. The Committee was established in 1995 and comprises
three independent non-executive directors. It met four times in 1998,
together with management and auditors, to review internal and external
audit reports and the interim and final financial statements of the
Group.

The Board has established an Executive Committee of executive
directors and senior managers who meet monthly to review operational
matters.

Codes

To ensure the highest standards of integrity the Group adopted in 1995
a Code of Conduct defining the ethical standards expected of employees
and the Group’s non-discriminatory employment practices. The Code
was revised in January 1998. Training course on the Code is held
regularly for employees, and the Audit Committee receives a report on
its operation every year.

The Company has issued its own Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors and certain senior staff that follows the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong’s Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies contained in Appendix 10 of the Exchange’s Listing
Rules. Throughout 1998 the Group has complied with the Code of Best

Practice contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
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The Group has endorsed the guide to good employment practices
issued by the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong to promote good and
responsible employment standards.

Financial Reporting

CITIC Pacific prepares its financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting standards published by the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants. Hong Kong accounting standards broadly follow
international accounting standards. No changes were made to the
Group’s accounting policies in 1998 except the adoption of newly
published standards on the disclosure of related party transactions,
investment in joint ventures, inventories and construction contracts.

Their adoption had an immaterial effect on the results of the Group.
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Board of Directors

Larry Yung Chi Kin, aged 57, has been the Chairman of the Board of
Directors of CITIC Pacific Limited (“CITIC Pacific”) since China
International Trust & Investment Corporation Hong Kong (Holdings)
Limited (“CITIC HK™) became its principal shareholder in 1990. He is
the Chairman of Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited (“Dah Chong
Hong”). Mr Yung is also the Vice Chairman and Managing Director of
CITIC HK, an Executive Director of China International Trust and
Investment Corporation. He worked for 14 years with the Ministry of
Electric Power in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) before coming
to Hong Kong in 1978, and had extensive management experience before
establishing CITIC HK in 1987. Mr Yung is a Steward of The Hong Kong
Jockey Club and President of The Hong Kong Golf Club.

Henry Fan Hung Ling, aged 50, is the Managing Director of CITIC
Pacific. He is a Deputy Chairman of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited
(“Cathay”), a director of CLLP Holdings Limited (“CLP Holdings™),
Hong Kong Dragon Airlines Limited (“Dragonair”), Dah Chong Hong
and Hong Kong Resort Company Limited (“HKR”) as well as a Deputy
Managing Director of CITIC HK. He is also a non-executive director of
the Securities and Futures Commission. Before joining CITIC HK in
1987, Mr Fan has held senior management positions in property and
shipping companies and also practised law as a barrister. He joined
CITIC Pacific in 1990.

Vernon Francis Moore, aged 52, is a Deputy Managing Director of CITIC
Pacific and the Chief Financial Officer of CITIC Pacific Group. He is a
director of CLP Holdings, Cathay, New Hong Kong Tunnel Company
Limited (“NHKTC") and Hong Kong Air Cargo Terminals Limited. Mr
Moore is an Executive Director of CITIC HK which he joined in 1987
after holding senior management positions with a number of financial

institutions. He joined CITIC Pacific in 1990.
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Peter Lee Chung Hing, aged 45, is a Deputy Managing Director of
CITIC Pacific and was responsible for business development prior to
the appointment as Group Chief Executive of Dah Chong Hong
Group in June 1995. He is also a director of CLP Holdings. Before
joining CITIC HK in 1988, Mr Lee was with major banking and
shipping groups in Hong Kong. He joined CITIC Pacific in 1990 and
joined the Board in 1991.

Robert Ernest Adams, aged 55, has been an Executive Director of
CITIC Pacific since 1992. He is the Chairman of NHKTC and Western
Harbour Tunnel Company Limited, a director of Cathay,

LSG Lufthansa Service Hong Kong Limited and the corporate
representative of CITIC Pacific on the Board of Companhia de
Telecomunicacoes de Macau S.A.R.L. Before joining CITIC Pacific in
1992, Mr Adams worked in Hong Kong in the management consulting
and banking industries, and is a past Chairman of the American
Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong.

Patrick WS Chung, aged 50, joined CITIC Pacific in 1992 as Executive
Director. He is an Executive Director of HKR and a director of other Group
companies concerned with property and environment projects in Hong
Kong. Before joining CITIC Pacific, Mr Chung was involved in property
development matters with major Hong Kong companies.

Peter Mak Shair On, aged 50, has been an Executive Director of CITIC
Pacific since December 1997. He is a director of Dragonair and other
Group companies concerned with infrastructure and industrial projects in
the PRC. Before joining CITIC Pacific Group in 1996, Mr Mak had
extensive experience in shipping, property and China business activities.

Willie Chang, aged 55, has been a director of CITIC Pacific since
1987. He is the senior partner of Willie Chang & Co., Solicitors, with
over 29 years’ experience in legal practice, including as a parter of Johnson,

Stokes & Master. Mr Chang is a member of the Board’s Audit Committee.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Hamilton Ho Hau Hay, aged 48, joined the Board of CITIC Pacific in
1992. He is a director of Dah Chong Hong, an independent director of
COSCO Pacific Limited (“COSCO Pacific”), an Executive Director of
Honorway Investments Limited (“Honorway”) and Tak Hung
(Holding) Company Limited (“Tak Hung™). He is the brother of Mr
Norman Ho Hau Chong.

Alexander Reid Hamilton, aged 57, has been a director of CITIC
Pacific since May 1994. He was a partner of Price Waterhouse with
which he practised for 16 years. He is a non-executive director of a
number of Hong Kong companies including COSCO Pacific, COSCO
International Holdings Limited, Esprit Holdings Limited and Kwong
On Bank Ltd. Mr Hamilton is Chairman of the Board’s Audit
Committee.

Hansen Loh Chung Hon, aged 61, joined the Board of CITIC
Pacific in May 1994. He is the Managing Director of Wyler Textiles,
Limited, the Chairman of Farrington Travel Limited and a non-
executive director of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited. Mr Loh is a member of the Board’s Audit
Committee.

Norman Ho Hau Chong, aged 43, has been a director of CITIC Pacific
since May 1994. He is an Executive Director of Honorway and Tak Hung.
He is also a director of Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited,
Lee Hing Development Company Limited, and a number of other
quoted companies. He is the brother of Mr Hamilton Ho Hau Hay.

Chau Cham Son, aged 60, joined the Board of CITIC Pacific in June
1995. He is a director of China Overseas Land & Investment Limited
and other Hong Kong companies. He has 30 years’ experience in the
field of town planning, building and land development in Hong Kong
including being the first Director of Buildings and Lands with the Hong

Kong Government. He is a Steward of The Hong Kong Jockey Club.
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André Desmarais, aged 42, joined the Board of CITIC Pacific in
December 1997. He is the President and Co-Chief Executive Officer of
Power Corporation of Canada. He is also a member of the Chief
Executive’s Council of International Advisers of The Government of the

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
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Senior Managers

Bi Yupu, aged 57, is the General Manager, Power Project Department of
CITIC Pacific Limited (“CITIC Pacific”). He is a Deputy Managing
Director of China International Trust & Investment Corporation Hong Kong
(Holdings) Limited (“CITIC HK™). He is also a director of CLLP Power
China Limited and CLP Power International Limited. He has been the
chief representative of CITIC Pacific Beijing Office since 7 December 1993.
Before joining the CITIC Group in 1987, he worked for 20 years with the
Ministry of Electric Power in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) as a
senior engineer and deputy director of North China Electric Power Research
Institute. He joined CITIC Pacific in 1993.

Chau Chi Yin, aged 43, is the Financial Controller of CITIC Pacific
Group. He is a director of Hong Kong Resort Company Limited and
other Group companies concerned with industrial projects in the PRC.

He joined CITIC HK in 1987 after experience in public accounting and
in financial management with a major Hong Kong listed company, and
joined CITIC Pacific in March 1990.

Leslie Chang Li Hsien, aged 44. is the General Manager, Finance of
CITIC Pacific Group. He is a director of Western Harbour Tunnel
Company Limited (“WHTC”). Before joining CITIC Pacific in 1994,

Mr Chang was a partner at KPMG Peat Marwick specializing in
financial services industry. He was also the Director of Chinese Practice
of the firm in the United States.

Carl Yung Ming Jie, aged 30, is the General Manager, Corporate
Development of CITIC Pacific Group. He is a director of Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited and other Group companies concerned with
infrastructure and industrial projects in the PRC. He joined CITIC Pacific

in 1993. He is the son of Mr Larry Yung Chi Kin.
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Milton Law Ming To, aged 35, is the General Manager, Business
Development. He is a director of Hong Kong Dragon Airlines Limited,
New Hong Kong Tunnel Company Limited, WHTC and other Group
companies concerned with infrastructure, environment and industrial
projects in Hong Kong and the PRC. Before joining CITIC Pacific in
1992, he worked in the banking industry.

Polly Lawrence, aged 52, is the General Manager, Group Human
Resources and Administration of CITIC Pacific Group, responsible for
those functions in the Group. She was head of human resources and
communications of a Hong Kong listed company before she joined
CITIC Pacific in 1993.

George Chang Geo Vin, aged 52, is the Group Deputy Chief Executive
of Dah Chong Hong Group since April 1995. He joined CITIC HK in
1994 and before joining the Group he has extensive experience in
general management, strategic planning and financial operations.

Chu Hon Fai, aged 53, is a director of Dah Chong Hong, Limited.
He joined Dah Chong Hong Group in 1964 and specializes in
provisions trading and fresh produce, food processing and retailing.

Hui Ying Bun, aged 52, is the Managing Director of Triangle Motors
Limited, holder of the Isuzu franchise. He joined Dah Chong Hong
Group in 1966.

Mak Kwing Tim, aged 50, is the Managing Director of Reliance
Motors, Limited which holds the Honda, Acura and Nissan
Diesel franchises, and of Harmony Motors Limited which holds
the Volkswagen franchise. He joined Dah Chong Hong
Group in 1967.

Kenneth Tsang Yu Kit, aged 50, is the Managing Director of Honest
Motors, Limited, holder of the Nissan franchise, which he joined in
January 1996. He had extensive experience in the motor trade in Hong

Kong before joining Dah Chong Hong Group.
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SENIOR MANAGERS

Yip Moon Tong, aged 406, is the Managing Director of Dah Chong
Hong (Motor Service Centre) Limited. He joined Dah Chong Hong
Group in 1992 after many years experience with the Government in

the area of mechanical services and engineering.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

BEERSE

Directors’ Report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting to shareholders their report for
the year ended 31 December 1998.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is holding its subsidiary
companies and the principal activities of its subsidiary companies and
associated companies and their major areas of operation are set out in
the Review of Operations on pages 7 to 26.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 1998 are set
out in the consolidated profit and loss account on page 60. The following
tables give an analysis by principal activity of turnover and contribution
to the Group’s profit from consolidated activities before net interest
expense as required in the Listing Rules. It should be noted that these
figures excluded income from associated companies which form a

substantial part of the Company’s business:
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Profit from Consolidated

Activities before

Group Turnover Net Interest Expense
KBS SR B SR AR 7 6 e T Pl

in HK$ million 1998 1997 1998 1997 s
By principal activity : BT EET
Trading & Distribution BE R H

Motor vehicles and related services 4,739 6,347 320 420 RE L H B RR

Trading 5,295 4,930 179 190 M5
Power and Civil Infrastructure 2,045 1.353 2,045 1.353 REREMRM
Property 443 3,080 66 1,524 LYES
Investment Holding - - 167 - TR &
Others 1,170 1,088 127 82 Hitt
Less: General & Administration

Expenses - - (505) (483) W —RATHER
13,692 16,798 2,399 3,086

Group Turnover

A
in HKS million 1998 1997 b =T e
By geographical area : P BT
Hong Kong 6,606 9,683 HH
China 5,918 5,656 H
Japan 530 509 HA
Singapore 399 493 B AN
Others 239 457 oAl [

13,692 16,798
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STATUTORY REPORTS

DIRECTORS® REPORT

The Directors declared an interim dividend of 20 cents per share
in respect of the year ended 31 December 1998 which were paid on
24 September 1998. The Directors recommended, subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting, the payment of a final dividend of 50 cents per share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 1998 payable on 14 June 1999
to shareholders on the Register of Members at the close of business on
8 June 1999.
Reserves
The amounts and particulars of transfer to and from reserves during the
year are set out in note 19 to the accounts.
Donations
Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HKS$3 million.
Fixed Assets
Movements of fixed assets are set out in note 13 to the accounts.
Major Customers and Suppliers
The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s

suppliers and customers are as follows :
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1998 1997
% %
Purchases g H
- the largest supplier 9 18 - RARBLIER
- five largest suppliers combined 33 37 - LRBLER &5

The aggregate percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s five

largest customers is less than 30%.
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No Directors, their associates or shareholders (which to the knowledge
of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) were
interested at any time in the year in the above suppliers or customers.
Subsidiary Companies
The names of the principal subsidiary companies, their principal places of
operation, their countries of incorporation and particulars of their issued
share capital are set out in note 28 to the accounts.

Issue of Debt Securities

On 15 February 1996, the Company issued and sold US$100 million
aggregate principal amount of its 7.37% Senior Notes due 2006 (“Senior
Notes”) to financial institutions pursuant to note purchase agreements
dated 15 February 1996. All of the Senior Notes remained outstanding at the
end of the year.

On 20 August 1997, the Company issued and sold Japanese Yen 9.5
billion floating rate bond due 2002 (“Yen Bond”), for general working
capital purposes, to an investor pursuant to the subscription agreement
dated 15 August 1997. All of the Yen Bond remained outstanding at the
end of the year.

In October 1998, CITIC Pacific Finance Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued and sold US$125 million commercial
paper notes (“Commercial Paper Notes”), for general working capital
purposes, to investors pursuant to the commercial paper dealer agreement
dated 30 September 1998. All of the Commercial Paper Notes remained
outstanding at the end of the year.

Save as aforesaid, none of the other subsidiary companies have issued

any debt securities.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

DIRECTORS® REPORT

Borrowings

Particulars of borrowings of the Group are set out in note 20 to

the accounts.

Directors

Biographical details of directors in office at the date of the report may be
found on pages 40 to 43. They are also the Directors in office during the
financial year ended 31 December 1998.

Pursuant to Article 104(A) of the New Articles of Association of the
Company, Messrs Larry Yung Chi Kin, Vernon Irancis Moore, Willie
Chang, Norman Ho Hau Chong and Chau Cham Son shall retire by
rotation in the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and all, being
eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election.

Management Contract

The Company entered into a management agreement with China
International Trust & Investment Corporation Hong Kong (Holdings)
Limited (“CITIC HK™) on 11 April 1991 but with retrospective effect
from 1 March 1990 pursuant to which CITIC HK agreed to provide
management services to the Company and its subsidiary companies for a
management fee calculated on cost basis to CITIC HK payable quarterly
in arrears. The management agreement is terminable by two months’
notice by either party. Messrs Larry Yung Chi Kin, Henry Fan Hung
Ling and Vernon Francis Moore had indirect interests in the
management agreement as they are directors of CITIC HK. A copy of the
management agreement will be available for inspection at the Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held on 8 June 1999.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

None of the Directors of the Company has or at any time during the year
had, an interest which is or was material, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract with the Company or any of its subsidiary companies,

which was significant in relation to the business of the Company, and
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which was subsisting at the end of the year or which had subsisted at
any time during the year.

Connected Transactions

Connected transactions disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) are as follows :

1. Pursuant to the agreement dated 9 October 1996 made between the
Company, CITIC HK, Kerry Trading Co. Limited, The Development
Bank of Singapore Limited (collectively “the Parties”) and Cheer First
Limited (“Cheer First”), the Parties being the shareholders of Cheer
First agreed to make loans to Cheer First from time to time for
developing CITIC Tower. CITIC HK being a substantial shareholder of
the Company and regarded as its connected person holds 25% interest in
Cheer First. The loan was made on normal commercial terms and in
proportion to each Party’s shareholding in Cheer First. It was with no
fixed repayment date and was interest bearing at the rate per annum
equivalent to Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offered Rate. As at 31 December
1998, the amount of shareholders’” loan due by Cheer First to the
Company was HK$2,042 million.

2. During the year, certain subsidiaries of the Company had entered into
transactions with Gentech Vehicle Engineering Limited (“Gentech™), a
60% owned subsidiary of the Company. The remaining 40% interest is
held on equal basis by Messrs Johnny Lee Fuk Wai and Alexis Tai Chi
Keung who are also directors of Gentech and are regarded as connected
persons of the Company. Details of such transactions for the year ended

31 December 1998 were as follows:
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HKS$

i

Sale of vehicle chassis or other components to Gentech 18,284,346
Body repair or vehicle maintenance service provided

to Gentech 1,866,436

Body building work sub-contracted to Gentech 12,912,838

Purchase of vehicle components or equipment from
Gentech 986,983
34,050,603

The independent non-executive directors of the Company confirmed
that (i) such transactions had been entered into by the Group in the
ordinary and usual course of its business on normal commercial terms,
(i) the aggregate monetary value of such transactions for the year ended
31 December 1998 had not exceeded 0.2% of the net asset value of the
Group as disclosed in the Company’s 1997 annual report.

Directors’ Interests in Securities of the Company

As at 31 December 1998, the following were the interests in shares of
the Company or associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 29 of the Securities (Disclosure of

Interests) Ordinance (the “SDI Ordinance™):
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Number of Shares of the Company

KREZRGEH
Personal Corporate Family Other
interests interests interests interests Total
Name VN5 PN KGR R At iy W5
Larry Yung Chi Kin 400,381,000 400,381,000 S
Henry Fan Hung Ling 43,000,000 43,000,000 L
Vernon Francis Moore 3,200,000 3,200,000 BEfEHE
(Note 1)(HIEET)
Peter Lee Chung Hing 500.000 500,000 SN
Robert Ernest Adams 550,000 550,000 Lt
Patrick W S Chung 540,000 540,000 SRR
Peter Mak Shair On 100.000 100,000 k%
Hansen Loh Chung Hon 1,050,000 500,000 500,000 1,550,000 [R5
(Note 2)(FiE) (Note 2)(FHik2)
André Desmarais 13.800 23,968,000 3,200 93,985,000 mEE
(Note 3)(FiEs)

Note 1: Deemed interests held by the relevant Director and his family as contingent beneficiaries
of a discretionary trust.

Note 2: The corporate interests and the family interests of the relevant Director duplicate
each other as the 500,000 shares are held through a company in which the relevant Director
and his family are interested.

Note 3: In addition to the aforesaid, the relevant Director is also one of the trustees of a
Canadian discretionary trust which controls a Canadian company which owns 24,000 shares
of the Company.

As at 31 December 1998, none of the Directors has any other interests
in the equity or debt securities of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SDI Ordinance) which have
been entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 29
of the SDI Ordinance or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.

Substantial Shareholders
As at 31 December 1998, the interests of substantial shareholders, other
than the Directors of the Company, in the equity securities of the

Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under

section 16(1) of the SDI Ordinance are as follows:
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STATUTORY REPORTS

BEERSE

DIRECTORS® REPORT W
Number of Shares
of the Company
Name KAEZ R £l
China International Trust and Investment Corporation 638,721,285 BRI ER (R A A

CITIC HK

Heedon Corporation

Honpville Corporation
Rockhampton Investments Limited
Bloomfield Enterprises Corp.

Earnplex Corporation

638,721,285
518,424,285
310,988,221
202,000,000
292,000,000
202,000,000

CITIC HK is a substantial shareholder of the Company indirectly

through the following wholly owned subsidiary companies by virtue of

section 8(2) of the SDI Ordinance as follows:

Name of Subsidiary Companies

of CITIC HK

Number of Shares
of HK$0.40 each

RERFTEIE 1 0.40 TLZ IR HELH

SR

Heedon Corporation

Honpyville Corporation
Rockhampton Investments Limited
Bloomfield Enterprises Corp.

Earnplex Corporation
AR RIS (2) I - BB

RRZES (] PRI R R N 35
W

P EEZ A T4

Affluence Limited

Winton Corp.

Westminster Investment Inc.
Jetway Corp.

Cordia Corporation
Honpyville Corporation

Hainsworth Limited

Southpoint Enterprises Inc.

43,266,000
30,718,000
101,960,000
42,500,000
32,258,064
310,988,221
67,031,000
10,000,000

Each of Affluence Limited, Winton Corp., Westminster Investment

Inc., Jetway Corp., Cordia Corporation, Honpville Corporation,

Hainsworth Limited and Southpoint Enterprises Inc. holds the shares of

the Company beneficially. Accordingly, Honpville Corporation is a

substantial shareholder of the Company.

Affluence Limited

Winton Corp.

Westminster Investment Inc.
Jetway Corp.

Cordia Corporation
Honpyville Corporation
Hainsworth Limited

Southpoint Enterprises Inc.

Affluence Limited > Winton Corp.®
Westminster Investment Inc. > Jetway
Corp. > Cordia Corporation > Honpville
Corporation > Hainsworth Limited &
Southpoint Enterprises Inc. 73 E i {14
ARz WL Honpville
Corporation INEARNFZ EERR



China International Trust and Investment Corporation is the direct
holding company of CITIC HK. CITIC HK is the direct holding
company of Heedon Corporation, Hainsworth Limited, Affluence
Limited and Barnsley Investments Limited. Heedon Corporation is the
direct holding company of Winton Corp., Westminster Investment Inc..
Jetway Corp., Kotron Company Ltd. and Honpville Corporation and
Kotron Company Litd. is the direct holding company of Cordia
Corporation. Barnsley Investments Limited is the direct holding
company of Southpoint Enterprises Inc. Accordingly, the interests of
China International Trust and Investment Corporation in the Company
duplicate the interests of CITIC HK in the Company. The interests of
CITIC HK in the Company duplicate the interests in the Company of all
its direct and indirect subsidiary companies as described above. The
interests of Heedon Corporation in the Company duplicate the interests
in the Company of all its direct and indirect subsidiary companies as
described above. The interests of Barnsley Investments Limited in the
Company duplicate the interests in the Company of its direct subsidiary
company as described above and the interests of Kotron Company Ltd.
in the Company duplicate the interests in the Company of its direct
subsidiary company as described above.

Rockhampton Investments Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary
company of Bloomfield Enterprises Corp., which in turn is a wholly
owned subsidiary company of Earnplex Corporation. Accordingly, the
interests of Earnplex Corporation duplicate the interests in the Company
of its direct and indirect subsidiary companies as described above.

Mr Larry Yung Chi Kin is the owner of the entire issued share capital of

Earnplex Corporation. The interests in the Company of Rockhampton
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STATUTORY REPORTS

DIRECTORS® REPORT

Investments Limited represent part of the corporate interests of Mr
Larry Yung Chi Kin as mentioned in the above section of “Directors’
Interests in Securities of the Company”.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor its subsidiary companies has purchased or sold
any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31 December 1998
and the Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year
ended 31 December 1998.

Service Contracts

As at 31 December 1998, there were no service contracts which were not
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation) between any
company in the Group and any Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Arrangements for Acquisition of Shares or Debentures

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiary
companies a party or parties to any arrangement to enable the Directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
Auditors

The accounts for the year have been audited by Price Waterhouse,

who shall retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the
Company. Following the merger of Price Waterhouse with Coopers &
Lybrand from 1 October 1998, it is proposed that the new firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, be appointed auditors of the Company in place

of the retiring auditors.
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Corporate Governance
During the year, the Company was in compliance with the Code of Best

Practice as set out in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange.

By Order of the Board
Larry Yung Chi Kin Chairman
Hong Kong, 18 March 1999
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STATUTORY REPORTS

EERE

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended 31 December 1998

BE—NI/ A ZH=F—HIEEE

Note
in HKS million WfaE 1998 1997 LI B E iR
Turnover 2 13,692 16,798 —E 0]
Profit from Consolidated Activities 3 2,399 3,086 fRaxEmtl
Share of Profits less Losses of
Associated Companies 2,134 2,471 PG E A SR TREE
Net Interest Expense 6 (1,171) (889) NERXEE
3,362 4,668
Sale of Business Interests 7 - 3,236 HEEB#ER
Profit before Taxation 3,362 7.904 BRBtETEF
Taxation S (445) (489) HIE
Profit after Taxation 2,917 7.415 G5 Fng]
Minority Interests (109) (39) DYRRES
Profit Attributable to Shareholders 9 2,808 7.376 R SR FE (L R
Dividends 10 (1,490) (2,131) g2
Transfer to Reserves 19 @ (7) YN
Retained Profit for the Year 11/19 1,317 5,238 FARBRF
Earnings per Share 12 SIRZF (L)
- Before Sale of Business Interests 132 cents 194 cents - R &R R
- Sale of Business Interests - 152 cents - HEXRB#E
- Total 132 cents 346 cents - g
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 1998

—WANFEFZH A — AR

in HKS million ;f;g 1998 1997 LIS BB TR
Fixed Assets 13 11,765 10,472 BE&E
Associated Companies 15 40,145 40,210 /N
Investments 16 11,574 11,196 w&
Net Current Assets 17 83 207 BREEE
63,567 62,085
Financed by : E B :
Share Capital 18 851 351 f&7s
Reserves 19 41,048 39,374 fet i
Shareholders’ Funds 41,899 40,225 RREE
Long Term Borrowings 20 20,137 20,444 REAEM
Deferred Taxation 21 262 254 RIERIE
Minority Interests 1,269 1,162 DERRRED
63,567 62,085
Larry Yung Chi Kin Director RER #FF

Henry Fan Hung Ling Director
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STATUTORY REPORTS

Balance Sheet

BEERSE

as at 31 December 1998

—WANFEFZH A — AR

in 1S million i 1998 1997 DUEmESTHE
Fixed Assets 13 80 82 EE&EE
Subsidiary Companies 14 49,091 50,347 MEAE]
Associated Companies 15 2,326 3,494 /NS
Net Current Liabilities 17 (2,231) (3,587) FRERE
49,266 50,336
Financed by : BB -
Share Capital 18 851 851 (L2
Reserves 19 34,122 34,076 F]
Shareholders’ Funds 34,973 34,927 BRREE
Long Term Borrowings 20 14,293 15,409 RHEAER
49,266 50,336
Larry Yung Chi Kin Director RER #F

Henry Fan Hung Ling Director
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

a0 BB oA

Jor the year ended 31 December 1998

BE— NN/ FEFZH=—HIEEE

in HKS million 1998 1997 LB HE LA

Net Cash Inflow from Consolidated Activities REGEFBRERATE
(note a) 2,320 918 (M3 a)

Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance b= (CEYME7E ] 6

Dividend income from associated companies 1,196 6,714 R N B AT % B s

Income from investments 1,288 707 RATERE TGS

Interest received 62 54 EIH &

Interest paid (1,526) (1,4608) 2 FE

Dividends paid (1,490) (2,027) [RhiSS!

Net Cash (Outflow) / Inflow from Returns on HEOHRRBRICIRE
Investments and Servicing of Finance (470) 3,980 GRE) | BARE

Taxation e

Hong Kong profits tax and overseas tax paid (158) (112) ENEEAEE R/ BE

Investing Activities BEER

Purchase of fixed assets (1,099) (1,645) HE BT E

Purchase of subsidiary companies HEAM A F
(net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) - (440) (HTIBR P 153 <5 BL S [R] 3 <87)

Investment in associated companies - (16,257) REE AT 2K E

Increase in investments (243) (1,501) Begz 8hn

Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 32 24 B [ A T

Proceeds on disposal of investment property - 1,268 HEREYZENE

Proceeds on disposal of an associated company 835 - H RS A T AT

Proceeds on disposal of investments 78 B HEREHE

Loans from associated companies 107 1,747 REdia N a iR

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (290) (16.810) REEBZRERLFHE

Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) before Financing 1,402 AERZEEEA | (FL) B8
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STATUTORY REPORTS

BEERSE

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT HEBHERER
in HKS million 1998 1997 LIEM B B AT
Financing (note b) mE (fEn)
Repurchase of shares - (217) 5 ] A7
New borrowings 1,495 15,349 e IR
Repayment of loans (2,838) (1,904) FIR AR
Floating rate notes matured - (1,560) Ep ERESR Lt
Increase in minority interests 7 228 D BB SRORE £ 2 38 0
Net Cash (Outflow) / Inflow from Financing (1,336) 11,896 MERE (RdL) /| RAPHE
Increase / (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 66 (128) RERERIREZIEM / (RD)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 January 231 352 R—B—BZRELERRE
Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes 4 7 HEEREBE
R+ZBA=1t—HZRER

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 31 December 301 231 ERIRE
Analysis of the Balances of Cash and

Cash Equivalents RERERREEELAT
Cash and bank balances 900 710 BE LR T AT
Bank loans and overdrafts (note c) (599) (479) BITERRIEEL (5 e)

301 231
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Notes to Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

A BB R RN

a Reconciliation of profit from consolidated activities to

net cash inflow from consolidated activities

a BEFBaiBRERERE
REERNFEHE

in 1HK$ million 1998 1997 LB EBuR
Profit from consolidated activities after net OB BRSO R
interest expense 1,228 2,197 HFEFEHER
Net interest expense 1,171 389 F S B S5
Income from investments (1,549) (1,267) HKEBEE WA
Depreciation and amortisation 307 245 I8 N
Profit on disposal of investment property - (1,140) HER BV 6T
Profit on disposal of an associated company (167) - B e ) 22 0
Profit on disposal of investments (60) - B 1 2 U
Profit on disposal of fixed assets (4) (1) B [ 2 7 2 U
Decrease in properties held for sale 336 1,347 TFEWERD
Increase in inventories (60) (401) Eas eyl
Decrease / (increase) in debtors, accounts FEMORIE ~ RESIR R - AT
receivable, prepayments and deposits 1,380 (1,2106) HREEZ WY/ (8 m)
(Decrease) / increase in creditors, accounts payable FEATARIE - A HRAR S 3K
and accruals (228) 295 2z (W)
Effect of foreign exchange rates (34) (30) N ERTE
2,320 918
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BEERSE

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASIH FLOW STATEMENT A B &R R MG
b Analysis of changes in financing during the year b ERREEEH ST
Long term Minority
borrowings interests

in HKS million RHIE DY R LI BB CaT
Balance at 1 January 1998 1,162 BN N\FE—A—HZ&EF
Effect of foreign exchange difference - S R R
Net cash (outflow) / inflow from financing 7 HRE R HE () / A B
Minority interests’ share of retained

profit for the year 100 VBIRHFAGF R PR A 2 s

R—h A N\FE+ZA=+—H

Balance at 31 December 1998 1,269 ok T
c Reconciliation of the balance of cash and cash equivalents in c BEARTEN - HthEFNE
respect of bank loans, other loans and overdrafts IR ERERIREHA TR
in HKS million 1998 1997 LIEM BB TR
Bank loans, other loans and overdrafts 1,938 2.858 PATER ~ HAEFIE
Bank loans, other loans and overdrafts over three =l A B SR T

months to maturity (1,339) (2,379) B Hih g NEX
Bank loans, other loans and overdrafts within three =18 A WE 2 51T

months to maturity 599 479 Bk~ Ht g RIEX
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Notes to The Accounts

for the year ended 31 December 1998

1 Significant Accounting Policies

a BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts of the Company and
all its subsidiary companies made up to the balance sheet date. The
results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed of during the year
are included as from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the
effective dates of disposal respectively.

b GOODWILL AND CAPITAL RESERVE

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase consideration over the fair
values ascribed to the net assets of subsidiary companies and associated
companies acquired and is written off to reserves in the year of
acquisition or amortised over a period no longer than its estimated
useful life to the Group.

Where the fair values of net assets of subsidiary companies and
associated companies exceed the purchase consideration, such
differences, being discounts on acquisition, are taken to capital reserve
in the year of acquisition.

Cc SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Investments in subsidiary companies are carried at cost less provision.

d ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Associated companies are companies, other than subsidiary

companies, in which the Group holds not more than 50 per cent of their
equity share capital for the long term and can exercise significant
influence in their management.

The consolidated profit and loss account includes the Group’s
share of the results of associated companies for the year, and the

consolidated balance sheet includes the Group’s share of net assets of the

associated companies, after attributing fair values to the net assets at the

date of acquisition.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Significant Accounting Policies continued

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in associated
companies are stated at cost less provision. The results of associated
companies are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

e DEPRECIATION
All fixed assets except investment properties and properties held for
development are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Changes in the value of investment properties reflecting market
conditions, depreciation and other factors are incorporated in the annual
accounts on the basis set out in note 1(f).

Freehold land is not amortised. Leasehold land is depreciated over the
remaining portion of the relevant lease.

Amortisation of vehicular tunnel (including land and buildings) is
provided for over the franchise period on the basis of a sinking fund
calculation whereby annual amounts compounded at the rate of 7% per
annum will equal the net cost of the tunnel.

Other fixed assets are depreciated at rates sufficient to write off their
cost or valuation over their estimated useful lives on a straight line basis
at the following annual rates:
Buildings 2%-4% or the remaining
lease period of the land
Other fixed assets, comprising
traffic equipment, cargo lighters,
computer installations, motor vehicles,
plant and machinery, furniture,

10%-25%

fixtures and equipment
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f INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings in respect of
which construction work and development have been completed and
which are held for their investment potential.

Investment properties held on leases with unexpired periods greater
than twenty years are valued at intervals of not more than three years by
independent valuers; in each of the intervening years, valuations are
undertaken by professionally qualified personnel. The valuations are on
an open market value basis related to individual properties and separate
values are not attributed to land and buildings. The valuations are
incorporated in the annual accounts. Increases in valuation are credited
to the investment property revaluation reserve; decreases are first set off
against increases on earlier valuations on a portfolio basis and thereafter
are charged to operating profit.

Investment properties held on leases with unexpired periods of twenty
years or less are depreciated over the remaining portion of the leases.

Upon the disposal of an investment property, the relevant portion of
the revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is
released from the investment property revaluation reserve to the profit
and loss account.

g PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

Properties held for development consist of investments in land for future
development and buildings under construction and properties under
development pending any positive intention either to retain them for
investment purposes or to sell them for proceeds. The investments are

stated at cost less provision for diminution in value.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Significant Accounting Policies continued

h CAPITALISATION OF DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Property development expenditure, inclusive of interest and professional
fees, is capitalised as cost of development.

Borrowing costs incurred on assets under development that take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale are
capitalised into the carrying value of the assets under development.

The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed for the development
of the assets is based on the attributable cost of funds to the Group.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the profit and loss account
in the period in which they are incurred.

i REVENUE RECOGNITION

(i) Motor vehicles

Revenue arising from the sale of motor vehicles is recognised
when the registration document is issued or on delivery of motor
vehicles, whichever is earlier, which are taken to be the point in
time when the customer has accepted the goods and the related
risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes any
government taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

(i1) Sales of properties under development and properties held for sale

Income from sales of properties under development is recognised
when the properties developed for sale are sold in advance of
completion and the outcome of projects can be ascertained with
reasonable certainty by reference to the construction progress.
Profit is recognised over the course of the development and is
computed in each year as a proportion of the total estimated

profit of the development. The proportion used is calculated by
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N2

(iii

(iv)

reference to the proportion of construction costs incurred to date
to the estimated total construction costs to completion of the
development and the extent of the sales proceeds received, after
taking into account due allowance for contingencies.

Income from properties held for sale is recognised at the date
when sale agreement is signed.
Income from co-operative joint venture
Where the Group has been guaranteed a minimum rate of return
on its investment in co-operative joint ventures, income is accrued
at the minimum rate of return, and any return in excess of the
minimum is recognised in the year in which it is received, or
becomes receivable.

Other income or dividend from co-operative joint venture is
recognised when the right to receive is established.
Other goods
Revenue arising from the sale of other goods is recognised on
the delivery of goods to customers. Revenue is determined
after deduction of any trade discounts.
Rendering of services
Commission income and revenue arising from the
rendering of repairing services are recognised when the goods
concerned are sold to customers and when the relevant work is
completed respectively.
Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the

dividend is established.

(iii

(vi)

~

RAFHZEEEHR - ZRRE
HHEXH 2 R A IR R R
BT REERAZ LA RE
Wbl & s R L
REFEVEZMERFETHES
7 H IR AR
XA E
PAREC R EERR R A S
BRI S - PR B EHER
AR o (B R B EER s - ¥
TR LV EE GBI ©
BB & FEEARMEZIA
Bk S+ 27RO A ke S W A
HE o

HE

REE MBS IR E T
FREAMR o Wiz EEMBREMH 5
i e

ettt A s

AR E s B g AR IS A
Ti IR AR A E FEE AR T
TETEBEIRE AR

B M 2

B g TR OB S i HER e B
N &

=t

/

N
S

\



STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Significant Accounting Policies continued

jJ PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are classified under current assets and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

K INVESTMENTS

Co-operative joint ventures in the People’s Republic of China are stated
at cost (net of capital repayment) less provision for permanent
diminution in value or where appropriate, amortised over a period no
longer than its estimated useful life to the Group.

Interest in other listed and unlisted investments held for the long term
are stated at cost less provision for permanent diminution in value as
considered necessary by the directors.

I OPERATING LEASES

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the leasing company are accounted for as operating
leases. Rentals payable and receivable under operating leases are accounted
for on a straight line basis over the respective periods of the leases.

m INVENTORIES

Inventories comprising mainly motor vehicles, spare parts, electrical
appliances, food, trading items and steels are valued at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost represents the actual cost of purchase and
is calculated on the first-in first-out, specific indentification or weighted
average basis as appropriate. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sale proceeds of items sold in the ordinary course of
business after the balance sheet date, and in other cases, to
management’s estimates based on prevailing market conditions and net

replacement costs.
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N FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Transactions arising in foreign currencies during the year are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at market rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising in these cases are dealt with in the profit
and loss account.

The accounts of subsidiary companies and associated companies
expressed in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising are dealt
with as a movement in reserves.

O DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is accounted for at the current tax rate in respect of
material timing differences between profit as computed for taxation
purposes and profit as stated in the accounts to the extent that a liability

or asset is expected to be payable or receivable in the foreseeable future.

73

n 8
FR LI L B 2 S TR SRR 5 H
AERIR R I DAV AL B E
B R AR H 2 T35 R A
W o R 1B g A O B S R E R
7 o

iy g 2 B Kl A R B T A A R
BERAS L B 2 (BRI o FTS I BuZ JE
CEERFHEZZHA -
o BEHRE
TR JE T LATE P T SRS AR TR B o B
ZAEBE E Rst AERI - Aol 3R 0 H BT
FHRLZ W F BEHR H R e A1) i i BRI
2T AT R R o



STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

2 Turnover

Turnover of the Group comprises the total invoiced value of goods

supplied net of Government taxes where applicable, and services

rendered to customers, gross proceeds from sale of properties, amounts

received and receivable in respect of dividends, income from co-operative

joint ventures, toll income, net property rental, godown and cold storage

income and interest analysed as follows:-

BEERSE

iR H W GE

2 58

AEE 2 RS A SRR ()
i BEAIBREUGBLIR) SR (s 2 483k

16~ HEVIZERERE - skEEK K

FH ~ REEFEEARZE ~ BEik

B FEMSE - B REEEERA KF]
BAF -

Group FH]
in 1HKS million 1998 1997 LI E Hear 5
Sale of goods 10,561 11,778 B
Sale of properties 270 2,881 HEYIZE
Services rendered to customers 509 454 R F AR 2 I
Dividend income and income from
co-operative joint ventures 1,549 1,207 e S s B & 1F & A R R
Others 803 418 HAt
13,692 16,798
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3 Profit from Consolidated Activities 3 GBEERnf

Group % H

in HKS million 1998 1997 LS BB T
The profit from consolidated activities is arrived at

after charging : HEFB IR
Auditors’” remuneration 9 9 BT <
Contributions to staff retirement schemes 34 35 18 BRIk St Bk
Cost of sales 8,995 11,449 HE R
Depreciation and amortisation 307 245 I R
Management fee payable to China

International Trust & Investment ST P HBIBE TR E

Corporation Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited (BHEEE ) ARAF

(“CITIC HK™) 8 50 ( [HEFE] ) 2EHE
Operating lease rentals HEMAHE

- land and buildings 75 72 - T R
and after crediting : WEFA :
Dividend income from listed investments 22 1 KA LT E R s
Dividend income from unlisted investments 132 173 KB E B B
Profit on disposal of an associated company 167 - H RS AR
Profit on disposal of investment property - 1,140 H B AR
Rental income from & i

- investment properties - BEWE

Gross income 156 163 A
Less: Direct outgoings (56) (40) W B
100 123
- other operating leases 72 00 - HAE A




STATUTORY REPORTS

BEERSE

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS W H M GE
4 Directors’ Emoluments 4 EEME
Group LB
in 1K$ million 1998 1997 LI B ILE
Fees 1.5 1.6 Mg
Salaries 7.6 5.9 &
Bonuses 50.7 61.3 164l
59.8 68.8

The reported increase in directors’ salaries between 1997 and 1998 is
due to a change in their basis of their employment. Prior to April 1997,
directors services were provided through a Management Agreement
between CITIC HK and the Company. From April 1997. directors of the
Company received salaries directly from the Company and payments

under the Management Agreement do not include directors’ salaries.

The Directors’ emoluments are analysed as follows :
Number of directors

—NNEEE-ANNFEEESHS BT
TrH R B E S 2 EEAFER - FE— LA
CHEMA LR EHRIIRE R P EEE LA
DA EHEHHRBINE - H— BTN
R » A0 E B R AN R G
& MR EH AN AT ERE

HEHE o
EFHEFUT -

EEAHM
1998 1997

Emoluments Bands il il

HKS$0 - HK$1,000,000 7 9 W 0 7C AW 1,000,000 T
HK$1,000,001 - HK$ 1,500,000 - 2 5 1,000,001 7CEEE 1,500,000 7C
HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000 1 - 8 2.500.001 75 EEH 3,000,000 TG
HK$4,500,001 - HK$5,000,000 1 1 8 4,500,001 T5EEH 5,000,000 TG
HK$5,000,001 - HK$5,500,000 1 - 8 5,000,001 T5EEH 5,500,000 TG
HK$5,500,001 - HK$6,000,000 - 1 8 5,500,001 T5EEH 6,000,000 TG
HK$8,500,001 - HK$9,000,000 1 - 5 8.500.001 T5EEH 0,000,000 TG
HK$10,000,001 - HK$10,500,000 1 1 HhiE 10,000,001 T B 10,500,000 7G
HK$12,000,001 - HK$12,500,000 - 1 Y 12,000,001 76 EHH 12,500,000 76
HK$12,500,001 - HK$13,000,000 1 - i 12,500,001 TL B 13,000,000 7G
HK$15,000,001 - HK$15,500,000 1 1 i 15,000,001 T B 15,500,000 7G
HK$18.000,001 - HK$18,500,000 - 1 peaicd 18,000,001 TC R 18,500,000 G

Emoluments paid to independent non-executive directors during the
year amounted to HK$0.8 million (1997: HKS$0.9 million).

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the
year were also directors and their emoluments are reflected in the

analysis presented above.
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5 Retirement Benefits

Dah Chong Hong Holdings Group (“DCH Group”) operates a defined
contribution scheme in Hong Kong and a defined benefit scheme in
Japan. New Hong Kong Tunnel Company Limited (“NHKTC”) operates
a retirement scheme in Hong Kong which is primarily a defined
contribution scheme.

Contributions to the defined contribution schemes by DCH Group and
NHKTC represent amounts payable at rates specified in the terms of the
schemes. Assets of the schemes are held separately from those of DCH
Group and NHKTC in funds under the control of trustees. Forfeited
contributions of DCH Group are credited to the remaining members of
the scheme in proportion to their respective balances. Forfeited
contributions of NHKTC are to be used at the absolute discretion of the
trustees for settlement of all or part of the future contributions payable
by NHKTC.

The scheme of NHKTC also contains a defined benefit element in the
case where the relevant employee deceases under employment.
However, the relevant benefit payable has been underwritten by an
outsider insurer through a group life policy.

For the defined benefit scheme in Japan, members’ benefits are
determined based on the employees’ latest month of pay and length of
service. Part of the portion for the employees is funded through a
contract with an insurance company which acts as trustee. The
remaining portion for the employees together with the portion for the
directors of the DCH Group’s subsidiary company in Japan are unfunded

and have been provided for in the accounts.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

6 Net Interest Expense

BEERSE

iR H Kk

6 MEHXZFH

Group EE
in HKS million 1998 1997 LI BB CaT
Interest expense Lilista
Bank loans and overdrafts wholly
repayable within five years 980 1,111 AR ILFR R ZRIT R RIEX
Bank loans not wholly repayable
within five years 281 129 NAREFERNZHERZBTERK
Less: Amount capitalised (308) (537) W CEREAR R
953 703
Other loans wholly repayable
within five years 224 207 AN AR N 2R HA B K
Other loans not wholly repayable
within five years 73 58 NEAREFERNZHERE 2 EMEHR
1,250 968
Interest income (79) (79) FIEHA
1,171 389

7 Sale of Business Interests

The amount represented profit on disposal of all the Group’s interests of

7.74% in Hong Kong Telecommunications Limited in 1997.
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8 Taxation

Hong Kong profits tax has been calculated at the rate of 16% (1997 :

16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. Overseas taxation

has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the

rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Group EE

8 A

T ¥ RIS BT LUAE 9 A 5 JE R 8 ) 452
16% ZBE (— UL  16.5%) 515
Y MBIIE T LU A i R s e B A
BT 2 BTREA R o

in HKS million 1998 1997 LIBWE Heat 5
Company and subsidiary companies: KAF R R BAA :
Hong Kong profits tax 87 120 FEHEEH
Overseas taxation 22 27 EZAR R
Deferred taxation (Note 21) 5 9 RIEBIE (MFEE 21)

114 156
Associated companies: N
Hong Kong profits tax 286 208 T 5
Overseas taxation 63 79 =P R TR
Deferred taxation (18) 46 W FE R IH

331 333

445 489

9 Profit Attributable to Shareholders

The Group’s profit attributable to shareholders is dealt with in the

accounts of the Company to the extent of HKS1,536 million (1997:

HK$9,708 million).
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STATUTORY REPORTS

BEERSE

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS e H OB E
10 Dividends 10 B2
in HKS million 1998 1997 T e
1998 Interim dividend paid: 20 cents ERE— A/ FERERE -
(1997: 20 cents) per share 426 427 Bz 20 i (—IUILEAE : 201)
1998 Final dividend proposed: 50 cents RIS — ULERBRE
(1997: 50 cents) per share 1,064 1,004 BRC50 Il (— LB 501l
1997 Special dividend paid: 30 cents per share 640 EIRE—JULEAERRRILE. B 30 il
1,490 2,131
11 Retained Profit for the Year 11 FAREBRT
in HKS million 1998 1997 LB B auEt o
Profit for the year retained by: ERRE Z i Al -
Company and subsidiary companies 919 6,279 A E] R M A F]
Associated companies 398 (1,041) /N
1,317 5,238

12 Earnings per Share

The calculations of earnings per share and earnings per share before sale of

business interests are based on profit attributable to shareholders of

HK$2,808 million (1997: HK$7,376 million) and profit attributable to

shareholders excluding sale of business interests of HK$2,808 million (1997:

HK$4,140 million) respectively, and on 2,127,367,160 shares in issue

throughout the year (1997: weighted average number of 2,131,984,221 shares).
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13 Fixed Assets

13 BIE&E

Properties
a GROUP [/wesl,/ne’/ll, Se[/'—use'?d held for Vehicular ()t/zm:,s" a %
properties  properties development — tunnel (note ti) Total
in 1S million B BRIE GREIME FERE ROORD  AE LEwEmTHE
Cost or valuation AR A E
At 1 January 1998 3,534 2,426 1,241 1,983 2,778 11,962 —SE—H—H
Exchange adjustments 33 3 - - 4 32 SR 4
Additions 328 79 352 - 458 1,217 B
Disposals - (5) ) - (102)  (108) HE
Revaluation surplus (Note 19a) 310 - - - - 310 TfEEE B (HEE 19a)
Reclassification (178) 178 - - - - HFHE
Transfer on completion 1,272 74  (1,346) - - - TER R
At 31 December 1998 5,299 2,755 246 1,983 3,130 13,413 —JUFE+ZAZF—H
Accumulated depreciation BT
At 1 January 1998 - 316 - 284 890 1,490 —SE—H—H
Exchange adjustments - 1 - - - 1 S
Charge for the year - 44 - 47 136 227 T
Written back on disposals - ) - - (69) (70) I E
At 31 December 1998 - 360 - 331 957 1,648 —JUFE+ZAZF—H
Net book value FEBFE
At 31 December 1998 5,299 2,395 246 1,652 2,173 11,765 —HINEFZAZ+—H
At 31 December 1997 3534 2.110 1241 1,699 1,888 10,472 —hSEs A=
The analysis of cost or valuation of the above assels is as follows: LA B Z ARSI -
At cost 2,755 246 1,983 3,130 8,114 A
At professional valuation — 1998 5,299 - - - - 5,299 HEME - — U
5,299 2,755 246 1,983 3,130 13,413

note :

(i) Interest capitalised in fixed assets other than investment properties amounts to HK$105 million (1997:

HK$108 million).

(it) Other fixed assets comprise traffic equipment, cargo lighters, computer installations, motor vehicles,

plant and machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipment.
(iti) Fized assets with net book value of HK$1,662 million (1997: HK$1,710 million) have been pledged to
secure bank loans and other loans of a subsidiary company totalling HKS675 million (1997: HK$825

million).
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

13 Fixed Assets continued

b COMPANY

Motor vehicles,

i E B

of

iR H W GE

13 BEIEEE &

b 47

equipment,
Self-used Jurniture
property and fixtures Total
ok
in HKS million E)EES flf e A LIHEM Eea 5
Cost 22N
At 1 January 1998 3 83 86 — I\ F—H—H
Additions - 8 8 WE
Disposals - (€8] @ HE
At 31 December 1998 3 90 93 —WIFEFZH=E+—H
Accumulated depreciation 2RI
At 1 January 1998 - 4 4 — I\ F—H—H
Charge for the year - 10 10 R
ritten back on disposals - (€D @) ORI HY B 45 [el
At 31 December 1998 - 13 13 —WIFEFZH=E+—H
Net book value JRIFE
At 31 December 1998 3 77 80 —WIFEFZH=E+—H
At 31 December 1997 3 79 39 —hhtEE+=ZA=+—H
¢ The tenure of the properties of the Group is as follows: c REEWIZEZ FIHAT -
Properties
Investment Self-used held for
properties properties  development Total
in HKS million REDZ HEE  FREZDE ot LIS BB eaT ST
Leasehold properties held in Hong Kong R ob e S
- Long term lease 633 31 - 664 - RIHREA
- Medium term lease 4,404 2,110 246 6,760 - A
- Short term lease - 74 - 74 - FHREA
Medium term leasehold properties held overseas - 310 - 310 ST AT
Freehold properties held overseas 262 230 - 492 WK AR
5,299 2,755 246 8,300
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d Property valuation
The Group’s investment properties have been independently revalued on
an open market value basis as at 31 December 1998. The details of the

independent qualified valuers are as follows:

d VA E

AEE 2 BV T ML E AT — U
SNEAZRH =A— B AR T e
e BLRE Rl EATZ A AT

Properties located in Valuers 12 ELHl ESIS
Hong Kong Knight Frank (kY=< U
Japan Tekko Building Co., Limited HA

e Fixed assets held by the Group for use in operating leases to generate

rental income are as follows:

e AEEREFEEMARBIEEMS
WA Z B E BT -

Investment Self-used Other
properties — properties  fived assets Total
in HKS million RENFE HEDE B eEE k] LB HE LA
Cost or valuation 5,299 31 175 5,505 AR B {E
Accumulated depreciation - (©)) (96) (99) EWinE
Net book value at R T EHE
31 December 1998 5,299 28 79 5,406 —hWANE+ZH=+—H
14 Subsidiary Companies 14 MBAT
Company 22 F]
in 1KS million 1998 1997 LIt g auat
Unlisted shares, at cost less amounts written off 169 169 JE LA o AR S A
Amounts due by subsidiary companies 57,130 56,953 b B A B R A SR
Amounts due to subsidiary companies (8,208) (6,775) RIS A B S5
49,091 50,347

Particulars of the principal subsidiary companies are shown in Note 28.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

15 Associated Companies

BEERSE

iR H Kk

15 HERQT

Group % IH
in HKS million 1998 1997 LUEB EE A E
Share of net assets other than goodwill 32,687 33,200 PRGBS AT B
Discount on acquisitions 2,360 2,063 g ziigi
35,047 35,329
Loans due from associated companies (note c) 6,593 6,374 Bie A F R A &K (I )
Loans due to associated companies (note c) (1,495)  (1,493) REFa ARG (6L o)
40,145 40,210
Investment at cost: BE AR
Unlisted shares 5,363 5,225 JF LR
Shares listed in Hong Kong 24,846 25,342 i Len
30,209 30,567
Market value of listed shares 25,827 27,627 bkt Z e
Company 2271
in 1KS million 1998 1997 LN B a TR ST
Investment at cost: BB
Unlisted shares 337 340 [0 20
Shares listed in Hong Kong 931 1,427 e TR
1,268 1,767
Loans due from associated companies 2,544 3,212 WE AR RAZER
Loans due to associated companies (1,486) (1,485) R A& AT SR
2,326 3,494
Market value of listed shares 551 1,265 btz HiE
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Dividend income from associated companies during the year is as follows:

F AR A RN B B 2 a0 T

Group £[5
in 1KS million 1998 1997 LI BB CaT
Listed associated companies 1,171 835 bl AT
Unlisted associated companies 234 5,580 JE LTl E A
1,405 6,415

note :
(a) Included in associated companies is CLP Holdings Limited (“CLP") whose year end is
30 September which is not coterminous with the Group. The results of CLP have been equity

accounted for based on its latest published accounts for the year ended 30 September 1998.

(b) Also included in associated companies are Hong Kong Resort Company Limited (“HKR”)
and Western Harbour Tunnel Company Limited (“WHT”) whose year ends are 31 March
and 31 July respectively which are not coterminous with the Group. The results of HKR and
WHT have been equity accounted for based on their management accounts for the period
from 1 January 1998 to 31 December 1998.

(¢) Loans due from associated companies and loans due to associated companies are interest
bearing at market rates except an amount of approximately HK$3,000 million loans to
associated companies, which are non-interest bearing. These loans have no fized repayment

terms.

Particulars of the principal associated companies are shown in Note 29.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

BEERSE

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS W BB R
16 Investments 16 #&
Group EE
in 1K$ million 1998 1997 LI B ILE
Co-operative joint ventures BIFEELA]
Unlisted investments, at cost 8,876 8504  FELTHEERAE
Amounts due by co-operative joint ventures 2,289 2,149  GIEEELFEIREK
11,165 10,713
Less: Amortisation (301) (221) U - #E 9N
10,864 10,492
Listed investments L&
Shares listed outside Hong Kong, at cost 611 617  BELIHIE ETEEABR
Unlisted investments JEET#HE
Shares, at cost 81 80 A3 A
Add: Advances made 58 47 o FAEE
139 127
Less: Provision (37) (37) W - A
102 90
Less: Advances received 3) (3) W BYGEOE
99 87
11,574 11,196
Market value of listed shares 218 386 L TE

Particulars of the principal co-operative joint ventures are shown in Note 30.
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17 Net Current Assets / (Liabilities)

17 BRBEE | (B

Group H] Company 23F]
in HKS million 1998 1997 1998 1997 b =y n
Current assets BB E
Properties held for sale (note) 341 677 - - Rl (ML)
Inventories 1,498 1,462 - - 7E
Debtors, accounts receivable, JEBURIE ~ TEHRRR
deposits and prepayments 2,190 3,390 92 96 e R M ERE
Cash and bank balances 200 710 164 111 W& L RITHF
4,929 6,239 256 207
Current liabilities B AE
Bank loans, other loans and overdrafts HATER - R ERREX
- secured 78 61 - - ~ HHH
- unsecured 1,860 2,797 1,231 2.340 - JEHCH
Creditors, accounts payable, JEMTHRIE ~ TEATIRER - &Kk
deposits and accruals 1,800 2,000 192 2929 e EH
Amount due to a subsidiary company - - - 161 R B g 2 ) <2
Provision for taxation 44 104 - - Tl TH YE M
Proposed final dividend 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,004 EEAEE
4,846 6,032 2,487 3,794
83 207 (2,231) (3.587)
note: W

Properties held for sale of the Group include properties let under operating leases amounting to

HKS$316 million (1997: HK$316 million).
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

18 Share Capital

Number of shares of HK$0.40 each

HKS million

i E B

of

E i

18 K&

FEIRETEE S 0.40 T2 RGEE W EET
Authorised: HE
At 31 December 1997 and 1998 2,500,000,000 1,000 —NNEFEE—TNWNE+ZA=+—H
Issued and fully paid : E BT -
At 31 December 1997 and 1998 2,127,367,160 851 —NhtEEE—NNE+ B =1+—H

19 Reserves

19 f#fi&

a GROUP a %
Investment
Capital property  Exchange
Share redemption Capital revaluation fluctuation — General — Retained
])l'e’llill’ll reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve ])l'()f;f.\’ T()f(l/
HE RAVE BRI

in HKS million RO BRI EARE EGEE GEE EERRE AR RE LOBBEI A
At 1 January 1998 20,881 3 2,771 268 21 122 15,308 39,374 —JU\HE—H—H
Goodwill on consolidation written off - - 5 - - - - 5 HERHEEZHEME
Share of reserves / (deficit) of

associated companies - - 2 (265) 9) 1 - (271) PO ] /(R
Surplus on revaluation of properties Uil A 2 AR

(Note 13a) - - - 310 - - - 310 (HHEE 13a)
Exchange translation differences - - - 12 3 - - 15 AMEHESGER
Goodwill written off upon disposal - - 297 - - - - 297  HERERGIEZEE
Transfer from profit - - - - - 1 - 1 EEE
Retained profit for the year - - - - - - 1,317 1,317  HFRREEF
At 31 December 1998 20,881 3 3,075 325 15 124 16,625 41,048 —JUUFEFZAZF—H
Retained by: Hi TP A EIREEZFH -
Company and subsidiary companies 20,881 3 3,071 117 22 121 14,355 38,570 ALELMEAR
Associated companies - - 4 208 ) 3 2,270 2,478 [ g/ |

20,881 3 3,075 325 15 124 16,625 41,048
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b COMPANY

o
v
al

Capital
redemption Share Retained

reserve premium profits Total
in HKS million BRI R (7 FRET A LB R B BUA
At 1 January 1998 3 20,881 13,192 34,076 —hh\FE—H—H
Profit for the year available

for distribution (Note 9) - - 1,536 1,536 N ARG R (R 9)

Dividends (Note 10) - - (1,490)  (1,490) R (MEEE 10)
At 31 December 1998 3 20,881 13,238 34,122 —NNINFE+ZH=+—H

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 1998, calculated

under section 79B of the Companies Ordinance, amounted to HK$13,238

million (1997: HK$13,192 million).
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

20 Long Term Borrowings

BEERSE

iR H Kk

20 REAfEM

a a
Group £S5 Company 2 A]
in 1K$ million 1998 1997 1998 1997 LB HE LA
Bank loans FITERK
- unsecured 18,224 20,471 14,122 16,314 - fEHCH
- secured 556 699 - - -
18,780 21,170 14,122 16,314
Other loans HiE=
- unsecured 2,546 1,478 1,402 1,402 — R4
- secured 150 175 - - -
21,476 22.823 15,524 17,716
Loans due within one year
included under current —HERNEHZ R
liabilities (1,339) (2,379)  (1,231)  (2,307) FI AT E) & EA
20,137 20,444 14,293 15,409
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note:

(i) Bank loans and other loans of the Group and the Company not wholly repayable
within five years amounted to HK$4,557 million (1997: HK$12,899 million) and
HK$4,080 million (1997: HK$S,607 million) respectively.

(ii) Included in the secured bank loans and secured other loans were amounts of HK8525
million and HK$150 million respectively, which were drawn under the facilities made
available by a consortium of banks and financial institutions (“the Lenders”) to a
subsidiary company up to a maximum aggregate amount of HK$1,725 million. These
Sacilities, together with the facilities of approximately HKS691 million made available by
the Lenders to a company in which the subsidiary company has a 10% interest, are
secured by fived and floating charges on all of the assets of the subsidiary company
amounting to HK$1,969 million at 31 December 1998.

In addition, three designated bank accounts of the subsidiary company with a total
balance of HK$296 million at 31 December 1998 have been assigned in favour of the
Lenders. Certain receipts by the subsidiary company are required to be banked into these
accounts while withdrawals are subject to restrictions in that minimum balances as

computed under various formulae are required to be maintained in these bank accounts.

(iii) The Company has issued a US$100,000,000 Senior Note due 2006 (the “Notes”).
The Notes will rank in right of payment either pari passu or senior to all other
indebtedness of the Company. Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually in arrear at
7.37% per annum. The Notes will mature on 15 February 2006 unless previously prepaid

by the Company.

(iv) The Company has issued a Japanese Yen 9.500,000,000 Floating Rate Bond due
2002 (the “Bonds”). Interest on the Bonds is payable semi-annually in arrears at six-

month London Inter-Bank Offered Rate for Japanese Yen minus 0.35% per annum.

(v) A subsidiary company has issued US$125,000,000 commercial paper (the
“Commercial Paper”). The Commercial Paper, which bears interest at prevailing market
rate, is supported by a letter of credit issued by Bank of America National Trust and
Savings Association. Pursuant to the Reimbursement and Credit Agreement (the
“Agreement”) dated 30 September, 1998, a group of financial institutions committed to
lend up to USS$125,000,000 to that subsidiary company if there occurs a market
disruption event in the United States commercial paper market during the two years’ term
of the Agreement effective from 30 September 1998.

(vi) Bank loans and other loans, other than the Notes and the Bonds, are fully repayable

up to 2007 and bear interest at the prevailing market rate.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

20 Long Term Borrowings continued

b The maturity of the Group’s and the Company’s long term liabilities is as follows:

EERSE

e W 2

20 REAfGM &
b REERAATZENEAE
BIHAE R

Group EE Company 2y Al
in 1HKS million 1998 1997 1998 1997 LB HE LA
Bank loans are repayable HITERCEEHN
- in the first year 1,306 2.350 1,231 2.307 - —FR
- in the second year 2,722 2,364 2,491 2,279 - A
- in the third to fifth - =ZEHER
years inclusive 11,346 12,165 7,100 8,428 (F45 E R W 4F)
- after the fifth year 3,406 4,201 3,300 3,300 - HF#
18,780 21,170 14,122 16,314
Other loans are repayable HAn g (HE
- in the first year 33 29 - - - —FR
- in the second year 1,009 33 - - - ZHFR
- in the third to fifth - ZEHENRN
years inclusive 762 743 622 622 (BL15 H R W4E)
- after the fifth year 892 848 780 780 - AR
2,696 1,653 1,402 1,402
21,476 22,823 15,524 17,716




21 Deferred Taxation

21 EEHIE

Group EE
in 1HKS million 1998 1997 LB HE LA
Balance at 1 January 254 134 —H—HZ&F
Exchange adjustments 3 (4) AR
Net provision for the year (Note 8) 14 9 R (5L 8)
Effect of change on tax rate (Note 8) 9 - Bl 2 8 (EE 8)
Acquisition of a subsidiary company - 115 Wb T 2 ]
Balance at 31 December 262 254 +AZ—HZAE
Provided in the accounts in respect of: HR H i B TR
Accelerated depreciation allowances 262 254 TN & i

Potential deferred tax liability has not been quantified for the surplus on
the revalued investment properties in Hong Kong as this does not

constitute a timing difference for deferred taxation purposes.

PR B i v e W 2 B SR UIR FE B T T
AR R - R AE T | BUZ IR FE B

22 Capital Commitments 22 BAEIE

Group #H
in HKS million 1998 1997 L EE At
Authorised but not contracted for (note) 151 170 E A R AT (FFGT)
Contracted but not provided for (note) 84 2,420 EEAEAREHE (MR
note : i

The capital commitments of authorised but not contracted for and contracted but not provided
Jor in respect of plant, property and equipment amount to HK$5 million (1997: HK$30
million) and HK$54 million (1997: HK$61S million) respectively.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

23 Operating Lease Commitments

Operating lease commitments of the Group at 31 December 1993

payable in the next twelve months, analysed according to the period in

which the lease expires, are as follows:

EERSE

i H WGk

23 ERMBHFRE
R—IANFEFZR=+—H - REEER
FAA M A ST i B FERA AR - A
JEIAR AT -

Group EE
in HKS million 1998 1997 LI BB iR
Properties commitments expiring Ve AR
- in the first year 22 20 - —FR
- in the second to fifth years inclusive 80 54 - _E®HER (@%Jﬁ%ﬁﬁi)
- after the fifth year 11 1 - HER
113 75
Other commitments expiring Lt A T A
- in the first year 1 2 - —#R
- in the second to fifth years inclusive 1 1 - ZEAFER (B EERAF)
2 3
115 78
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24 Contingent Liabilities

a The Company has provided a guarantee for a credit facility of
HK$3.,800 million (1997: HK$3,800 million) in favour of a subsidiary
company. The facility used amounted to HK$3,800 million (1997:
HK$3,800 million).

b The Group, through its subsidiary company, Adwood Company
Limited (“Adwood”), has a 35% effective interest in Western Harbour
Tunnel Company Limited (“WHTCL”). WHTCL has been established
and contracted to construct the Western Harbour Crossing (“Crossing”)
for The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(“Hong Kong SAR™).

Pursuant to the deed of guarantee dated 2 September 1993 as
amended by the deed of novation dated 27 June 1995 and the second
deed of novation dated 12 October 1998 (“the Guarantee”), the Group
together with the other beneficial shareholders of WHTCL have agreed
jointly and severally to guarantee The Government of the Hong Kong
SAR that WHTCL will complete the Crossing within budget of
approximately HK$7.5 billion including repair costs to be incurred after
the operation date of the Crossing but before the issuance of the
Maintenance Certificate.

Pursuant to a shareholders agreement dated 30 December 1992 as

amended by the supplemental deed dated 8 September 1994 and the

second supplemental deed dated 12 October 1998 in respect of WHTCL,

the beneficial shareholders comprising the Group, Kerry Properties
Limited (“Kerry”), The Cross-Harbour Tunnel Company, Limited
(“CHT”) and China Merchants Holdings (Hong Kong) Company
Limited (“CMH"), have agreed that in relation to any claim

made or asserted under the Guarantee, as between themselves, the total
of all liabilities in respect of a claim thereunder and of all costs, charges

and expenses suffered or incurred by any of them resulting therefrom or
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

24 Contingent Liabilities continued

attributable thereto shall be shared by them in the proportion to their
respective ultimate ownership of the issued capital of WHTCL, whether
in the case of CHT and CMH, directly or, in the case of the Group and
Kerry, attributable by way of their direct or indirect proportionate
shareholdings in Adwood.

¢ The Company has provided a guarantee to The Export-Import Bank
of the United States (“Eximbank”) for an export credit up to a
maximum of US$134 million to a co-operative joint venture company,
Jiangsu Ligang Electric Power Company, Limited (“Ligang”) pursuant
to an agreement dated 3 July 1995 between Ligang, the Company and
Eximbank, by which Eximbank established a credit not exceeding
US$134 million in favour of Ligang for a period of 15 years, repayable
by 24 semi-annual instalments beginning 15 October 1998 at an interest
rate of 5.95% per annum and the Company guaranteed the repayment
of the amounts outstanding under such contract. Each equity
participant in Ligang has agreed in the joint venture agreement dated
19 September 1988 as amended on 28 February 1995 to share in
financial assistance to Ligang in proportion to their respective equity
interests in Ligang.

d The Company has provided a guarantee to Kreditanstalt fur
Wiederaufbau, a German state-owned bank, for an export credit up to a
maximum of US$34 million granted to a subsidiary company, Jiangyin
Xingcheng Special Steel Works Co., Ltd.

e The Company has provided a several guarantee up to a maximum
amount of HK$1,600 million to support a loan facility of HK$2,400
million granted by a group of financial institutions to an associated

company, Treasure Trove Limited.
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f The Company, through its associated company, Swire Aviation
Limited, has a 10% effective interest in Hong Kong Air Cargo Terminals
Limited ("HACTL”). Pursuant to the shareholders agreement dated

29 January 1996 and the deed of shareholders support dated 29 January
1996, the Company together with other shareholders of HACTL have
agreed severally to give funding support to HACTL. The Company’s
liability under the shareholders agreement and the deed of shareholders
support is a several liability and will not be liable for more than its
effective interest (10%) in HACTL of aggregate calls, or amounts
payable, by HACTL.

g The Company has provided a guarantee in respect of suppliers’ credit to
a subsidiary company, Jiangyin Xingcheng Special Steel Works Co., Ltd.
with total principal amount of US$5,049,850 together with related interest.
h The Company has provided a guarantee for USS125 million commercial

paper issued by a subsidiary company.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

25 Post Balance Sheet Event
Subsequent to the year end, the Group has disposed of its entire interests in

several co-operative joint ventures to the joint venture partners at a proﬁt.

26 Comparative Figures
Certain comparative figures in the accounts have been reclassified to

conform with the current year’s presentation.
27 Approval of Accounts

The accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on

18 March 1999.
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28 Principal Subsidiary Companies

The following are the principal subsidiary companies of the Group which in the opinion of the directors, principally

affect the results and net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiary companies would in the opinion of the

directors result in particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of issued shares

Interest in equity

.. . o, shares held by
Place of incorporation/ No. of
Principal place of ordinary Par  Company  Subsidiary Principal activities

Name operation shares value % %
Aviation
Collinson Company Limited Republic of Liberia/Bermuda 498 - 100 - Investment holding
Custain Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 - 100 Investment holding
Easerich Investments Inc. British Virgin Islands/Bermuda 1 USS$1 - 100 Investment holding
Hilldun Limited Hong Kong 3 HK$10 - 100 Investment holding
Jade Wonder Limited British Virgin Islands 1 Uss1 - 100 Investment holding
Koston Corporation Republic of Liberia/Bermuda 1 - 100 - Investment holding
Motive Link Holdings Inc. British Virgin Islands/Bermuda 1 USs1 - 100 Investment holding
Sidewinder Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/Bermuda 1 Uss1 - 100 Investment holding
Smooth Tone Investments Ltd. British Virgin Islands/Bermuda 1 USs1 - 100 Investment holding
Power Generation
Delta Plus Investments Ltd. British Virgin Islands 1 USs$1 - 100 Investment holding
Gold Star International Holdings Litd.  British Virgin Islands 1 USs1 - 100 Investment holding
Julimont Holdings Inc. British Virgin Islands 1 Uss1 - 100 Investment holding
Kong Yuen Investments Limited Hong Kong 2 HKS$1 - 100 Investment holding
Premier Gold Holdings Corp. British Virgin Islands 1 USSs1 - 100 Investment holding
Rising Star Enterprises Corp. British Virgin Islands 1 Uss1 - 100 Investment holding
Solid Mountain Limited British Virgin Islands 1 Uss1 - 100 Investment holding
Sterling Lake Limited British Virgin Islands 1 USSs1 - 100 Investment holding
Sunspark Power Investment Hong Kong 10,000 HKS1 - 100 Investment holding

Company Limited
Roads, Bridges and Tunnels
Adwood Company Limited Hong Kong 10 HK$10 20 50  Investment holding
Artford Pacific Investment Limited British Virgin Islands 1 USSs1 - 100  Investment holding
Avon Pacific Limited British Virgin Islands 1 Uss$1 - 100 Investment holding
Bevery Tack International Ltd. British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Bloomingshire Investment Limited British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Bold Wave International British Virgin Islands 1 USSs1 - 100 Investment holding

Development Ltd.
Challenge International British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding

Development Litd.
Cinta Gompany Limited British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Crystalime Company Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 - 100 Investment holding
Eastern Unicom Development Limited  British Virgin Islands 1 USs1 - 100 Investment holding
Express Link Holdings Ltd. British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Godfrey Limited Hong Kong 10 HK$10 - 64.02  Project development
Golden Race International British Virgin Islands 1 USSs1 - 100  Investment holding

Investment Ltd.
Gradius Company Limited British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Harvest Nation Development Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 1 USSs1 - 100  Investment holding
Joyson Investment Limited British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

28 Principal Subsidiary Companies continued

Particulars of issued shares

i E B

of

e W 2

Interest in equity

shares held by

Place of incorporation/ No. of
Principal place of ordinary Par  Company  Subsidiary  Principal activities
Name operation shares value % %
Miracle Team Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands 1 USs$1 - 100 TInvestment holding
New Hong Kong Tunnel Company Limited =~ Hong Kong 75,000,000 HK$10 - 64.02 Tunnel operation
Rank Dragon Investment Ltd. British Virgin Islands 1 USs$1 - 100 TInvestment holding
Rich Creation Investments Ltd. British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Sino Mind Infotech Holdings Litd. British Virgin Islands 1 Uss$1 - 100 Investment holding
Triangle Peak Development Limited British Virgin Islands 1 USs$1 - 100 TInvestment holding
Yan Wing Investments Limited Hong Kong 2 HKS1 - 100 TInvestment holding
Environment
Athens Investments, Inc. British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Estoril Corp. British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Unitex Holdings Corp. British Virgin Islands 1 Uss$1 - 100 Investment holding
Trading & Distribution
Adachi Trading Company Limited Japan 250 JPY50,000 - 100 Trader of motor vehicle
spare parts
Confidence Motors Limited Hong Kong 1,000 HK$100 - 100 Motor vehicle distributor
Dah Chong Hong (Canada) Ltd. Canada 650,000 - - 100 General import/export
Dah Chong Hong (China) Limited Hong Kong 1,000 HKS$100 - 100 TInvestment holding
Dah Chong Hong - Dragonair Airport Hong Kong 10,000 HKS1 - 70 Provision of airport
GSE Service Limited ground support
equipment
Dah Chong Hong (Engineering) Limited Hong Kong 10,000 HKS$100 - 100 Engineering services
Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited Hong Kong 21,031,837 HKS$10 - 100 Investment holding
Dah Chong Hong, Limited Hong Kong 50,000 HK$1,000 - 100 TInvestment holding;
general importers,
retailers and exporters
dealing in foodstuffs,
electrical appliances
and other products
Dah Chong Hong (Japan) Limited Japan 480,000 IPY1,000 - 100 TImporter and exporter of
foodstuffs, motor
vehicles and
garments; property
investment
Dah Chong Hong (Motor Service Centre) Hong Kong 2,000 HK$100 - 100 Motor vehicle repairing
Limited and servicing
Dah Chong Hong Trading (Singapore) Singapore 3,500,000 Ss1 - 100 Investment holding and
Pte. Ltd. trading of foodstuffs
DCH Food Industries Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 - 100 Investment holding
DCH - Glory Foodstuffs Company Limited ~Hong Kong 200,000 HK$10 - 100 Investment in food
industry and related
business
DCH Motors Ltd. Canada 100 CANS$1 - 100 Motor vehicle distributor
Gentech Vehicle Engineering Limited Hong Kong 166,000 HK$1 - 60 Trading of special
function vehicles
Harmony Motors Limited Hong Kong 1,000 HK$100 - 100 Motor vehicle distributor
Honest Motors, Limited Hong Kong 3,000 HK$1,000 - 100 Motor vehicle distributor
Japan Auto Parts Company Limited Hong Kong 100 HKS$100 - 100 Trader of motor vehicle
spare parts
Regal Motors, Limited Hong Kong 2,000 HK$100 - 100 Motor vehicle distributor
Reliance Motors, Limited Hong Kong 3,000 HK$1,000 - 100 Motor vehicle distributor
Shanghai DCH Jinshan Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China N/A N/A - 38.50  Production and selling of

100
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Particulars of issued shares

Interest in equity

. . o shares held by
Place of incorporation/ No. of
Principal place of ordinary Par  Company  Subsidiary Principal activities

Name operation shares value % %

Shanghai DCH Jiangnanfeng Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China N/A N/A - 42 Production and selling of
chickens and related
food products

Tai Ping Advertising Company, Limited Hong Kong 100 HK$100 - 100 Advertising agent

Triangle Auto Pte Litd Singapore 3,000,000 S8 - 100 Motor vehicle distributor

Triangle Motors Limited Hong Kong 30,000 HK$100 - 100 Motor vehicle distributor

Property

Admarch Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 - 100 Property development

Admarch Property Management Hong Kong 2 HKS1 - 100 Property management

Company, Limited

Baylink Investments Limited British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding

Borgia Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 - 100 Property investment

Broadway Centre Property Management Hong Kong 2 HKS$1 - 100 Property management

Company Limited
Campbellton Development Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 - 100 Property development
Famous Land Limited Hong Kong 2 HKS1 - 100 Property investment
Glenridge Company Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 - 100 Property investment
Hang Luen Chong Investment Hong Kong 80,000 HK$100 - 100 Property investment
Company, Limited

Hang Luen Chong Property Management ~ Hong Kong 2 HK$1 - 100 Property management
Company, Limited

Hang Wah Chong Investment Hong Kong 50,000 HK$100 - 100 Property investment
Company Limited
Kendorm Corporation Republic of Liberia/Bermuda 1 - - 100 Investment holding
Kowill Investments Inc. British Virgin Islands 1 USss1 - 100 Investment holding
Lindenford Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 - 100 Property investment
Neostar Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 - 100 Property investment
Newmarket Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/Bermuda 2 USs$1 - 100 Investment holding
Pacific Grace Limited Hong Kong 2 HKS$1 - 100 Property investment
Sun King Fung Development Limited Hong Kong 152,343,165 HKS$0.10 100 - Investment holding
Supreme Luck Investments Ltd. British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Tendo Limited Hong Kong : HK$10 - 100 Property investment
Yee Lim Godown & Cold Storage Limited ~Hong Kong 1,000,000 HKS1 - 100 Operate a dry and cold
storage godown
Finance
Balgonie Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 100 - Financing
Chamberlain Enterprises Ltd. British Virgin Islands/Bermuda 1 USs$1 100 - Financing
CITIC Pacific Finance Limited Cayman Islands 1,000 USs1 100 - Financing
Idealand Investment Inc. Republic of Panama 100 US$1 - 100 Financing
Industrial Manufacturing
Crown Sky Investment Limited British Virgin Islands 1 US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Jiangyin Xingcheng Special Steel Works People’s Republic of China N/A N/A - 55 Steel making
Co., Ltd.

Jiangyin Xingcheng Steel Products People’s Republic of China N/A N/A - 55 Steel making
Co., Ltd.

Jiangyin Xing Cheng Steel Works People’s Republic of China N/A N/A - 55 Steel making
Co., Ltd.

Joyce Court Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 USs$1 - 100 Investment holding

Maxy Rich Investments Limited British Virgin Islands 1 USss1 - 100 Investment holding

Shine Mass Holdings Ltd. British Virgin Islands 1 USs$1 - 100 Investment holding

Wuxi Huada Motors Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China N/A N/A - 55 Industrial motors
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28 TEHIBAT
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Easerich Investments Inc. REELEE  Bh9E 1 1%L - 100 &
Hilldun Limited X 3 @0 - 100 M g
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Sidewinder Holdings Limited KRE LR | BFE 1 1%L - 100 et &
Smooth Tone Investments Ltd. REELEE  Bh9E 1 1%L - 100 % _mw- &
&E
Delta Plus Investments Litd. REELEE 1 1%L - 100 &
Gold Star International Holdings Ltd. REELEE 1 1%L - 100 #“H R
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Premier Gold Holdings Corp. REELEE 1 1%L - 100 #“H R
Rising Star Enterprises Corp. ERELRE 1 1370 - 100 etz &
HIEERAH] REELEE 1 167 - 100 M SHac
WAERAF REELEE 1 135 - 100 HERAEH
FREIRERRAT Ei 10,000  #E®1T - 100 RS
D - BRREE
Adwood Company Limited it 10 #H107T 20 50 &
R EARAR REELEE 1 135 - 100 et
Avon Pacific Limited REELEE 1 1%L - 100 f’w%ﬁ A E
BHEHREERAR PR A R 1 1%L - 100 kR E
Bloomingshire Im esnnem Limited TREL R 1 135 - 100 FEREE
R R R ARA REELEE 1 1%L - 100 M e
Mﬂﬁl‘”‘?‘ﬁéﬁﬁBEA ] TRERE 1 135 - 100 et
Cinta Company Limited TR AT B 1 167 - 100 }”’“H E
SOLARAE] it 2 0T - 100 HERAEH
R BRARAR TR E 1 1%L . 100 FEREE
Express Link Holdings Ltd. REELEE 1 1%L - 100 PERe I E
Godfrey Limited i 10 #H107C - 64.02  EHFHE
FRBIEEEERAF RRELEE 1 1%L - 100 FEREE



ERTIRGER FERE
AR/ i F0E WA
% EHEEME, wH Jilled % o EEEE
Gradius Company Limited EBELEES 1 13¥5% 100 e E
PR ERAR EBELEES 1 1ET 100 e E
HEREERAR EBELEES 1 13E5C 100 e E
FEAEHRAT TR LR 1 1950 100 R
W EREGRAR & 75,000,000 Wi 10T 64.02  BHEE
R EERATE EBELEES 1 13E5C 100  PEREE
Rich Creation Investments Ltd. EBELEES 1 13¥5% 100 e E
B A IR AR EBELEES 1 13650 100 PR
Al EFRERAR EBELEES 1 13E5C 100  PEREE
M & ERAR ik 2 W 190 100  PEREE
RIBRE
Athens Investments, Inc. TS 1 1ET 100 PRt
Estoril Corp. TS 1 13E5C 100 e E
Unitex Holdings Corp. EBELEE 1 1%L 100 PEAE
BoinH
ZEA SRR Gt SEN 250 50,000 HE 100  HHEEAHHG
BERHERAT ik 1,000  ##E1007T 100 IRELALEHTE
REHGT (EX) GRAF &R 650,000 - 100  —ROEHE
REHAGT (FE) HRAF & 1,000 Wi 100 70 100 PR E
RE - MRS i 10,000 W 190 70 FRHEH S 8 (e
RBERAF
EHGT LRARAR ER 10,000 W 100 7T 100 LRERRT
EHAGTEEBRAH & 21,031,837 w1070 100 fEREEE
REAGITERAH i 50,000 ¥ 1,000 7T 100  ERERE EROLEE
ﬁl'ﬂ'l N ’%%&mllﬂ’l
Ko FLA 2
BAGHAEE BT HAE 480,000 1,000 HE 100 Bl RHERAEERD
LES e
REAGTEHEREFOERAR & 2.000 Wi 100 70 100 FHAE RS
EFGAT G RABRATR i 3.500,000 1 s o 100 PR E 5
RETRHGTEGRAT i 2 W 10 7T 100  EREE
REEF&GERAR & 200,000 #E10T 100 B LERILEH
T
DCH Motors Ltd. JIEYN 100 1 100 TRELACHE TS
AR R G RR A ] ik 166,000 W 1T 60 ASSH IR F RIS
EBFEHGRAT ik 1,000  ##E1007T 100 IRELALEHTE
ERHERAT EHE 3,000 ¥ 1,000 7T 100 IRELALEHTE
RS ET M THRAR & 100 W 100 7T 100 HHEHES
BRERHEGRATR i 2,000 W 100 7T 100 TR EH AR
BERHERAF EHE 3,000 ¥ 1,000 7T 100 IRELALEHTE

103



STATUTORY REPORTS

EEWE

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS W2 H B GE
28 TEMBAT & EBITRGEH HERE

AT B R ARE WEAR
27 EH A #H il % %  FERY
LR AREEIIBERAH rfrE A\ LA T N - 38.50 SERHERNERARA
LW AREIREARAR rfrE A\ LA T N - 42 HERHEEN AR
KFREHEBRAF ik 100 ## 1007 - 100 REHE
AREHELAERAT 1 3,000,000 1T - 100 FHAHTE
BRRHEGRAR i 30,000 AR 100 7C - 100 REXCHRE
mE
X ERAF i 2 w0 - 100  DERE
M B AR AR i 2 W1 0 - 100 e
Baylink Investments Limited TR E 1 185 - 100 R
Borgia Limited Hit 2 %10 7T - 100 WEEE
B NE O G IR A ] i 2 W1 T - 100 PEEEHE
SEERGHRAH i 2 W1 T - 100 PEERE
FHARAF] i 2 W1 T - 100  PEEERE
Glenridge Company Limited Hit 2 w10 7T - 100 VIR
EREEFERAR HHE 80,000 AR 100 7C - 100  PEEERE
B BV E A RAR i 2 W T - 100  EEH
EEEFEEGRAR HHE 50,000 W 100 7T - 100  PERE
Kendorm Corporation FIEE B RSN / B e 1 - 100 R
Kowill Investments Inc. RS 1 1%L - 100 HEREE
Lindenford Limited i 2 W 10 7T - 100 P
HELEERATR i 2 W T - 100  EERE
Newmarket Holdings Limited TR | BHE 2 1%L - 100 HEREE
BEERAF i 2 W T - 100  EERE
MREBREGRAR HHE 152,343,165 W 0.10 7T 100 - EREE
Supreme Luck Investments Ltd. SRR 1 165t - 100 R
Tendo Limited i 2 W 10 7T - 100 P
WHEAREERAH i 1,000,000 W T - 100 REHEEE
M
Balgonie Limited Hit 2 Y 1 70 100 - EERE
Chamberlain Enterprises Ltd. TR RS | BHOE 1 170 100 - Rl 28
CITIC Pacific Finance Limited P2 1,000 1 £ 100 - RERHE
Idealand Investment Inc. EERImE 100 1%L - 100 Rl 28
TS
R EGIRAF] PR E LS 1 1 £ - 100 fERERE
VIR B R AR S PR A R rfrE A\ LA N A - 55 M=
LR RS M E R A R rfrE A\ LA N A - 55 M=
TR R @i AR AR rfrE A\ LA N A - 55 M=
PHEGRAR PR E LS 1 1 £ - 100 fERERE
HEEEERAR PR E LS 1 1 £ - 100 fERERE
KB R AR PR E LS 1 1 £ - 100 fERERE
G REERERAR rfrE A\ LA N A - 55 THERE
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29 Principal Associated Companies
The following are the principal associated companies of the Group which in the opinion of the directors, principally
affect the results and net assets of the Group. To give details of other associated companies would in the opinion of the

directors result in particulars of excessive length.

Place of Group equily
Name incorporation interest %  Principal activities
Aviation
Cathay Pacific Airways Limited Hong Kong 925.39  Airlines and related services
(note a)
Hong Kong Dragon Airlines Limited Hong Kong 28.50  Aviation
Swire Aviation Limited Hong Kong 33.33  Investment holding in Hong Kong
Air Cargo Terminals Limited
Power Generation
CLP Holdings Limited (note b) Hong Kong 20.33 Investment holding
Telecommunications
Companhia de Telecomunicacoes de Macau 20  Telecommunications services
Macau S.A.R.L.
Tunnel
Western Harbour Tunnel Company Limited Hong Kong 35 Franchise to construct
and operate the Western
Harbour Crossing
Environment
Ecoserve Limited Hong Kong 50  Design, construction and operation of
refuse transfer station
Enviropace Limited Hong Kong 20  Design, construction, operation

and management of chemical waste

treatment plant
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

29 Principal Associated Companies continued

i E B

of

i H WGk

Place of Group equity
Name incorporation interest % Principal activities
Green Valley Landfill, Limited Hong Kong 30 Land[fill construction and operation
South China WMI Transfer Limited Hong Kong 30 Design. construction and operation of
transfer station
Property
Benbecula Limited Hong Kong 50 Property investment
Cheer First Limited Hong Kong 40 Financing
CITIC Tower Property Hong Kong 40 Property management
Management Company Limited
Danton Investment Limited British Virgin Islands 40 Investment holding
Goldon Investment Limited Hong Kong 40 Property development
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited Hong Kong 50 Property development
Kido Profits Limited British Virgin Islands 15 Property development
Shinta Limited Hong Kong 20 Property investment
Sun Kong Investment Company, Limited ~ Hong Kong 40 Property development
Treasure Trove Limited Hong Kong 50 Financing
Industrial Manufacturing
Upper Bright Limited British Virgin Islands 50 Investment holding
Wuxi Tong Ling Cable Co., Ltd. People’s Republic 34.01 Telecommunications cables
of China manufacturing
Others
Shiseido Dah Chong Hong Cosmetics Hong Kong 50 Trading in cosmetics products
Limited
Way Chong Finance Limited Hong Kong 50 Provision of hire purchase and

note :

leasing finance

a. Extract from the published accounts of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited, a siginificant associated company of the Group, is shown on pages 113-114.

b.  Extract from the published accounts of CLP Holdings Limited, a significant associated company of the Group, is shown on pages 115-116.
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29 FEIHE A\ F]

THERGR L TR EARE AR EEMEZ AR £ E e AR - SR GHAI HEMEE AR 2R G S ARIRR

TR °

H1E B FEETFEZRIE 9 TFHET

fize

BIFRf 2z BIRAF (3 a) e 25.39 fiize KA Bk Es

R ZEERAR i 28.50 BREE

Swire Aviation Limited i 33.33 PR BN B E G IR A F]
B

R AR AR (FEE D) i 20.33 PR

R

B EAARAF M 20 AR ERR IR

(e

HHETEEE IR A Y 35 DAE R 7 S B T A% v v W i S s
BB RE

e Y EE G AR HiE 50 Herl ~ B R A R BE v
2R R A IR A A Y 20 Aeal > B £ OE LA B E TR
BERTEBRAF Y 30 S T A BR Y e
MR KB EEERA A HiE 30 Herl ~ B R A R BE v
YES

Benbecula Limited Y 50 ey

Cheer First Limited HiE 40 a2k

G REEIERAR HiE 40 el

Danton Investment Limited RIEE LR 40 RS

SR EERAF Y 40 LE 3

HFHEEERAFR HiE 50 L e

Kido Profits Limited REELEE 15 L e

B EERAA Y 20 Y E

i EZE AR AR Y 40 LE 3

Treasure Trove Limited i 50 a2k

TS

%%ﬁm“j RRE LR 50 PR

Mg A IR A F] rhaE A R ST 34.01 AFREE A

Hith

BEERETRESERAH Y 50 LAk 5
IEBMIEERAE i 50 FEAL A N R B R

MfaE -

a. BLEEZ F A BB ZRATEE R B2 B AR A f# #5113 £114 H
b. R EZ F B A 5] h BRI G RA 2 EA MRS 115 £ 116 H °
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30 Principal Co-operative Joint Ventures

The following are the principal co-operative joint ventures of the Group,
which in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results and
net assets of the Group. To give details of other co-operative joint
ventures would in the opinion of the directors result in particulars of
excessive length. All of the principal co-operative joint ventures have

their place of incorporation and operations in the People’s Republic of

i E B’

of

i H WGk

30 XESEGEAQT
THITER G A B AR ¥
BREEFHCARETEAFEEL
A o HRGWATIHEMEFEE AR
GO ERMFTIBN TR c I EHE
GG AT DI A RILRIE 4 5k
11 R A 2 o

China.
Co-operative
Joint venture Group equily Principal
Name period interest % aclivities
5 E1FEE L FHIR EEFFEZ % FHET
Jiangsu Ligang Electric Power (Note a) 56.31 Electric power plant construction
Company Limited (“Ligang”) and operation
TTRRRIMERE T HTRAT (" ) (3 ) B A
Zhengzhou Xinli Electric Power (Note b) 50 Electric power plant construction and operation
Co., Ltd. (“Xinli")
VEINFT ST HEBRA R (TR 0) (F5E b) PGSR N R
Shanghai Citic Tunnel 31 years from 7 October 1993 50 Tunnel construction, management and operation
Development Co., Ltd. (Note ¢)
g ERE S EARAE —NWNE=FF+AEH PR L ~ A M A
(k) =
Shanghai Huang Pu River Tunnel and 20 years from 1 January 1995 45 Tunnel and bridges management and operation
Bridges Development Co., Ltd. (Note c)
TGS RARAE (M5 ) —hNIAFE—H—H Bk N AR 2 A P N K8
0y g oD
Shanghai Jian Tai Co., Ltd. (Note ¢) 20 years from 1 January 1996 45 Toll road management and operation
FEIRERRAE] (TR c) —NNRIEFE—H—H g /N Pk =S LY F S
=7
Shanghai Xupu Bridge Development 20 years from 1 July 1996 45 Bridge management and operation

Co., Ltd. (Note c)
IR AR ERARAE (5 o) —IARFER—H

gt =
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Name

4

Co-operative
Joint venture

Group equily

Principal
activities

FEHT

Chongqing Chang Jiang LJT Bridge
Co., Ltd. (Note ¢)
TET SRR A RAT (3 o)

Chongqing Qiao Gao Infrastructure
Co., Ltd. (Note ¢)
R A RAR (K o)

Chongqing Qiao Feng Infrastructure
Co., Ltd. (Note ¢)
TR AR AT (3 o)

Chongqing Qiao Xin Infrastructure
Co., Ltd. (Note ¢)
RS IRAR (W o)

Chongqing Cheng Fu Infrastructure
Co., Ltd. (Note ¢)
AR AR AT (3 o)

Chongqing Cheng Tai Infrastructure
l0., Ltd. (Note ¢)
TR IR A R AT (M c)

Chongqing Cheng Xin Infrastructure
Co., Ltd. (Note c)
AR A IRAR (3 o)
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period interest %
BIEEE AR EERFFZ R %
20 years from 1 December 1997 50
—NtFE+F-H—H

HCFT =4

20 years from 1 December 1997 50
—NtFE+F=H—H

EE =

20 years from 1 December 1997 50
—NtFE+F-H—H

=

20 years from 1 December 1997 50
—NtFE+F-H—H

=

20 years from 1 December 1997 50
—NtFE+F=H—H

EE =

20 years from 1 December 1997 50
—NtFE+F-H—H

0y g oD

20 years from 1 December 1997 50

—hAEFE+ZA—H
iy g i B

Bridge Inanagement and ()I)GI‘El[i()Il

TR e R

Bridge management and operation

TR o M

Bridge managemem and ()perati()n

TR B e R

Bridge managemem and ()perati()n

TR B e R

Bridge management and operation

TR o M

Bridge managemem and ()perati()n

TR e R

Bridge management and operation

TR o M
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

30 Principal Co-operative Joint Ventures continued

note:

a Ligang Phase I and Il are accounted for as investments of the Group as the Group’s
interests therein will revert to the joint venture partners in the People’s Republic of China
after fifteen years and twenty years respectively from the date on which the electricity
generators became operational. Accordingly their results are accounted for to the extent of

dividends received and receivable, less amounts amortised.

b Xinli is accounted for as investment of the Group as the Group's interest therein will
revert to the joint venture partners in the People’s Republic of China after fifteen years from
the date on which the electricity generators became operational. Accordingly its results are

accounted for to the extent of dividends received and receivable, less amounts amortised.

¢ The Group is guaranteed a fived return on the investment amount of the co-operative
Joint ventures. Upon the expiration of the co-operation period, all the Group’s interests in
Shanghai Citic Tunnel Development Co., Ltd. and other co-operative joint ventures will
revert to Shanghai People’s Government / Chongqing People’s Government and the joint

venture partners in the People’s Republic of China respectively.
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Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of CiTiC Pacific Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the accounts on pages 60 to 110 which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The Companies Ordinance requires the directors to prepare accounts
which give a true and fair view. In preparing accounts which give a true
and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are
selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our
audit, on those accounts and to report our opinion to you.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an assessment
of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the
preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Company’s and the Group’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to
whether the accounts are free from material misstatement. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of information in the accounts. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.
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STATUTORY REPORTS

AUDITORS’ REPORT

Opinion

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view, in all material
respects, of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at

31 December 1998 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the
year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

Companies Ordinance.

Price Waterhouse
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 March 1999
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Extract from Published Accounts of
Cathay Pacific Airways Limited

AaACONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT a F e B E iR

for the year ended 31 December 1998 BE—INNFF A=+ —HILFE
in HKS million 1998 1997 R ET

Turnover 26,695 30,647 B

Operating profit 397 2,401 EEERF]

Exceptional items (869) (347) FrikEE

Net finance charges (311) (335) ARG = H

Net operating (loss) / profit (783) 1,719 B (B18) / G
Share of profits of associated companies 172 306 JE Ak o 8 . =1 Al
(Loss) / profit before taxation (611) 2,025 BB (B 1R) / B A
Taxation 104 (291) i IH

(Loss) / profit after taxation (507) 1,734 BrBifR (B 1R) / Baf]
Minority interests (35) (40) DB R A

(Loss) / profit attributable to shareholders (542) 1,694 R TEAG (B518) / EA
Dividends (339) (986) 458

(Loss) / retained profit for the year (881) 708 AEWE (B18) / REwA
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. Se =
Extract from Published Accounts of B % i 2 A IR 2 H
o o . o . AS >

Cathay Pacific Airways Limited B & ffi Bk H Z i B
b CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET b EEAESE
at 31 December 1998 — IR = —HER
in HKS million 1998 1997 N ET T
Fixed assets 49,201 42,827 IFi 1 i
Associated companies 1,325 1,145 L) AT
Other long-term receivables and investments 1,277 1,445 HREGRIHR R E
Net current assets 6,111 9,862 T

57,914 55,279
Deferred items (8,252) (8,098) IEFEIH H

49,662 47,181
Financed by: B BRI -
Share capital 676 677 [ZS
Reserves 24,020 24,929 fi
Shareholders’ funds 24,696 25,600 R &
Minority interests 108 104 Ly e L
Long-term loans, bonds and other liabilities 4,223 3,940 RIS B R EMAE
Obligations under finance leases 20,635 17,531 SEMERE

49,662 47,181
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Extract from Published Accounts of
CLP Holdings Limited
aCONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Jor the year ended 30 September 1998

in HKS million 1998 1997 B E T
TURNOVER 24,028 21,602 BREH
Operating profit 7,411 4,500 el
Exceptional item 1,837 - TR IEE
Share of profits of joint ventures and
associated companies 2,113 1,973 ATl & & A 8] R A sl i)
Profit before taxation 11,361 6,479 B iptgal
Taxation (1,509) (892) TiE
Profit after taxation 9,852 5,587 ERiRe 3wl
Transfers under Scheme of Control (to) / from BB TR (1) A
Development fund (1,556) 321 BREEE
Rate reduction reserve (158) (134) TE Rt
(1,714) 187
EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR NG
Scheme of Control earnings 4,971 4,760 EHNERIZERE FA
Non-Scheme of Control earnings 1,624 1,014 JERE Ik R B A
Group operating earnings 6,595 5,774 EEEERA
Exceptional item 1,543 - FrkTEHE
Total earnings 8,138 5,774 HELF]
u3=|
DIVIDENDS el
Ordinary (3,848) (3,514) i
Special (1,538) - 5 |
(5,386) (3,514)
RETAINED EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR 2,752 2,260 AR PR A
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Extract from Published Accounts of

CLP Holdings Limited

bCONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEET

at 30 September 1998

BEERSE

£ IR
H 2

&

=

FM = o

=W
wE &l

<
Al

—NANNENA =+ R

abt»

o (&

A
==

/\I

I

in HKS million 1998 1997 B AT
CAPITAL EMPLOYED ey il
Fixed assets 27,503 20,917 [ EE
Investments in joint ventures and
associated companies 9,884 5,820 BREREEAF RBEAT
Current assets TRENE
Deposits, bank balances and cash 8,990 18,011 Tk~ TR RS
Fixed-income securities and money
market instruments 5,797 - ] E M S 7 R SRl S B
Others 2,961 2,578 HAth
55,135 53,332
Current liabilities (6,682) (7,000) TE AR
48,453 46,272
REPRESENTED BY AR H
Share capital 12,243 12,442 [SZN
Share premium 13,362 13,708 e
Reserves 14,862 13,147 it A
Shareholders’ funds 40,467 39,297 B & &
Long-term loans and other borrowings 2,545 2,756 RIS KA AR
Deferred liabilities 2,913 2,787 R AR
Development fund 2,528 1,432 RS
48,453 46,272
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5 Year Statistics

1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

At year end (HK$m):

Shareholders” equity - 25,096 26,641 36,528 40,225 41,899
per share (HKS) 12.45 13.23 17.12 18.91 19.70
Debt -

debt less bank deposits 3,951 9,092 9.649 22,592 21,175

net debt/shareholders’

equity 36% 34% 26% 56% 51%

net debt/stockmarket
value 24% 17% 10% 34% 60%
interest cover (times) 16 10 20 6 4
Capital employed (*) 34,8343 36,347 46,771 063,527 63,974
Fixed assets 8,884 9,045 9,929 10,472 11,765
Associated companies 20,067 20,754 26,256 40,210 40,145
Investments 4,330 5,670 9,208 11,196 11,574

Stockmarket capitalization 38,000  53.000 95,800 65,520 35,530

EBITDA (#) 3,568 4,150 4,412 5,881 4,919

For the year (HK$m):

Earnings -
Earnings
regular 2,570 2,996 3,562 4,140 2,808
sales of business - 77 3,298 3,236 -
total Group 2.570 3,073 6,360 7.376 2,808
per share - (K cents)
regular 132 149 167 194 132
sales of business - 4 155 152 -
total Group 132 153 322 346 132
Dividends -
per share - (FK cents)
regular 48 55 62 70 70
special - - 30 30 -
cover (times) 2.8 2.8 2.7 2.8 1.9
Number of shareholders 7,250 60,545 6,215 8,642 14,987
Number of employees 10,000 11,500 11,750 11,800 11,871

(%) Capital employed represents shareholders’ funds plus total borrowings.
(#) EBITDA represents total earnings before interest expenses, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.
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Major Properties held by the Group

as at 31 December 1998

Major Properties Held For Investment

Leasehold Group’s Approximate Gross
Address / Lot No. Expiry Interest % Floor Area (sq. ft.) Existing Use
* 1. Skyway House (formerly known as Taikoktsui Centre). 11-15 Kok Cheung 2041 100 204,158 Commercial
Street, Kowloon 2604/2700th shares of KIL No.97006 & the extension thereto
2. Block C of Yee Lim Industrial Centre, 2-28 Kwai Lok Street, and 2047 100 320,195 Cold Storage &
2-0 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung Godown
4000/9000th shares of KCTL No.333
3. Honest Motors Building, 9-11, Leighton Road. Causeway Bay, 2880 100 47,487 Commercial
Hong Kong IL. No. 5431 and 5432
4. Wyler Centre 1, Basement 1& 2 and Parking Spaces Nos P50 and 2047 100 393,488 Industrial
P51 on 2nd Floor of Wyler Centre 2, 192-210 Tai Lin Pai Road,
Kwai Chung. New Territories
5779/11152th shares of and in the Remaining Portion of Kwai Chung Town
Lot No.130 and the extension thereto
5. Broadway Centre, No.93 Kwai Fuk Road, Kwai Chung, 2047 100 343,000 Godown
New Territories KCTL No.435
6. DCIH Commercial Centre, No.25, Westlands Road, 2047 100 389,000 Commercial
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong 118854
7. CITIC Tower, No.1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong IL. No.8822 2047 40 562,000 Commercial
8. Festival Walk, Tat Chee Avenue, Yau Yat Tsuen, Kowloon NKIL No.6181 2047 50 1,200,000 Commercial
9. Hiro-o Garden Hills, West Hill I-1204, Hiro-o 4-chome, Freehold 100 873 Residential
Shibuya-ku, Tokyo, Japan
10. Hiro-o Garden Hills, Centre Hill H-1403, Hiro-o 4-chome, Freehold 100 2,012 Residential
Shibuya-ku, Tokyo, Japan
11. Hiro-o Garden Hills, South Hill D-507. Hiro-o 4-chome, Freehold 100 2,264 Residential
Shibuya-ku, Tokyo, Japan
12. Dah Chong No.1 Building, 12-6, Roppongi, 3-chome, Freehold 100 34,528 Commercial &
Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan Restaurants, etc.
13. Dah Chong No.2 Building, B1/F-4/F, 18-2, Roppongi, 5-chome, Freehold 100 13,007 Commercial &
Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan Restaurants, etc.
14. Toriizaka House 14-19, Roppongi, 5-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan Freehold 100 7,352 Residential &
Office
* excluding a petrol filling station on the ground floor with an ancillary storage tank in part of the basement and a storeroom on the first floor
Major Properties Held For Development
Estimated Approximate  Approximate
Stage of  Completion Leasehold — Group’s Site Area Gross Floor
Location / Lot No. Completion Date Classification Expiry  Interest% (sq. ft.)  Area (sq. ft.)  Existing Use
1. Lot Nos.390, 394, 395, 390, 397, 399, 400, N/A N/A N/A 2047 100 193,652 N/A  Construction
401, 402, 405, 400, 407. 409, 410Rp, 412Rp. Site
413Rp, 414Rp, 416, 417, 418, 419 and 424 in
D.D. No.121 and Lot Nos 274Rp. 278, 279,
282,283, 284, 285, 280sB Rp, 286sB ssl and
2860Rp in D.D. No.127 Yuen Long, New Territories
2. Lot No.3723 sD Rp in D.D. No.104 and Lot N/A N/A N/A 2047 40 2,460.637 N/A Agricultural
Nos.43A and 50 in D.D. No.101 and Lot Nos. land
1266Rp. 1267 and 1268 in D.D. No.105, Yuen
Long, New Territories
3. No.500 and 502, Tung Chau Street, Cheung Sha N/A N/A N/A 2047 100 20,258 N/A  Construction
Wan, Kowloon site
NKIL No.4751 & 4752
Major Properties Held For Sale
Leasehold Group’s Approximate Gross
Address / Lot No. Lapiry Interest % Floor Area (sq. ft.) Existing Use
Grand Court, 109-135 Kadoorie Avenue, Kowloon 2006 100 135.340 Residential

Subsections 1 and 2 and the Remaining Portion of Section D of KIL No.2657
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Corporate Information

Registered Office
32nd Floor, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central

Hong Kong

Telephone : 2820 2111
Fax : 2877 2771

Internet

http://www.citicpacific.com

E-mail
General enquiries : contact@citicpacific.com

Property enquiries : property@citicpacific.com

Auditors

Price Waterhouse

22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central

Hong Kong

Registrars

Tengis Limited

1601 Hutchison House
10 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

Telephone : 2846 9666
Fax : 2810 8185
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BE6 12820 2111
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Company Secretary NEWE

Alice Tso Mun Wai i

Key Dates EZAH

Closure of Register : 2 June 1999 to 8 June 1999 BubEPHE  —UUESRA ZHE

Annual General Meeting : 8 June 1999, 10:30 am —ANFRA/H
Island Ballroom, Level 5 BRBEFERE : —LNNESRHAH
Island Shangri-La Hotel ot R e
Supreme Court Road FHEE RN B
Two Pacific Place TR RS RO
Hong Kong LEERK

Final Dividend payable : 14 June 1999 IRERKE : —ASFESH+HME
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